Code R171EH : 8092
hk

http://www.hki

ITE (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

Stock

2015/16

ANNUAL REPORT ##



Characteristics of The Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM"”) of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a high investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM

mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high
market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.
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Corporate Review
NI

1997

e Establishment of the Group e Accreditation of ISO 9001:2000 Quality Assurance System
o AEERT e Launched new ISO15693 product series and solutions
Patent filing of ISO15693 based Smart Key Management

System (SKMS) accepted by the State Intellectual Property
1998 Office of the People’s Republic of China
e Awarded with the first ISO15693 Smartlabel project in Hong
e Development of technologies and applications Kong

Strategic Business Agreement signed with Shanghai Public
Traffic Card Company Limited (SPTCC) for the provision of
value-added solutions and services to its user community
Entered into distributor agreement with Texas Instruments
for marketing, sales and support of its product ranges
Became the sub-issuer of MULTOS

Receiving of Caring Company Award

E{51SO 9001:20007 B EIR A FRH
HH—FRFISO15693F MR MARA R

LAISO15693 A E M B A EE R S EF R FRE T EBER
HAEERENFZE
BIEANAEIEISO15693 B HZR ALK T2
HEBARZTBRROBERD ST KRBT ZE  AEAFH
RAIRERR S RRRH

BEEREMNERARNFT IR - AEHERFEE  HER
*E

* HAMULTOSHI 4T

s BIEBARBEI SR

o Rl FE AR 8

1999

e Launched hardware products for smartcard system under
the trademark of "HOMAC"
e Awarded with important smartcard and RFID projects in Hong Kong
* LL[HOMAC ] WMt LBk FRAGEANERER
s REBEUSZEERE R FRAEHAITE

2000

e Winning of 2000 HK Industry Award
s IS=ZTTHFRBIHER

2001

e Listing on The Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong 2003

Kong Limited G hical ominto M
e Geographical expansion into Macao
e Establishment of wholly owned PRC subsidiary: ITE (China) Limited in g. P p }
Shanghai e Appointed as an international channel partner of Transcore,
i

LP

e Patent filing of Automated Passenger Management System
(APMS) accepted by the State Intellectual Property Office of
the People’s Republic of China

e Winning of 2001 HK Industry Award

e Acquisition of leading IT System Integrator, Quesco Holdings Limited and
Quesco Systems Limited on 7 December 2001

s NEBHAREMARARRIZERTIS LD

s RHPEl LRI 2 EMBAR @ LB KERAKERAT

s = ZT—FRBIHER

e RZEE—F+ At AKRBATEEEMUNEMNERGENRY — #REH
ERERD A RENASEBRERAR

e Accredited as one of the fastest growing technology
companies by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in the “2003 Asia
Pacific Technology Fast 500"

o EBRIMREIRM

& Transcore, LP ZEBBEIREZH

c Bk BEBRERASEN R BFRTEERANHEEREF

B=E
o ERE BMERSSHMTHEAE _ETALESRES
A R50038 | REBETIER
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Corporate Review
NIIEI

e Establishment of ITE Sistema (Macau) Limitada

e Contract award of the Macao SAR Customs Services “Automated Vehicle
Clearance System” & Public Security Forces Affairs Bureau “Automated
Passenger Clearance System”

e Successfully completed the ISO 9001:2000 Quality Assurance System Audit

e Awarded the Caring Company by The Hong Kong Council of Social Service

o B BERL (RFY) BROF

* BIVEEUEMERITHESHE [EHABEHEAR IR
REBEEHR [REEBBEAZRS | T2

* MIFTALISO 9001: 2000 FFEERE B EERLAE

o EEMFENEBRARBZE]ZE

¢ Winning of “Hong Kong Awards For Industries 2005 — Machinery and
Equipment Design Award” for Automated Passenger Management System
("APMS™)

e Awarded of Computer Registration Management System of the Construction
Worker Registration Authority, HKSAR

e QSL passed the ISO 9001:2000 Quality Assurance System

o Successfully completed the Hong Kong Marathon 2005

e Joined “Give Blood Give Live” — Blood Donation Day for the Hong Kong Red
Cross Blood Transfusion Service

o [MEEHBHAK | XE_STREBIRESE — HESRBERFE

o BMEUZEXT AGMEERNEMIEMERRANENIRE

o FERIFERBIBISO 9001:2000 7 B A& R L WHEZ

° IR E BB HIA2005

s BULSHEBATFTHIBMTE

ITE (Holdings) Limited

e Official launch of Computer Registration Management

System of the Construction Worker Registration Authority,
HKSAR

e Overseas expansion in Middle East and Southeast Asia

e Establishment of Intellectual Property Rights Centre

e |TE Smartcard Solutions Ltd. implemented the first
Automated Passenger Clearance System (“APCS”) of the
Public Security Forces Services Bureau, Macao SAR at the
Barrier Gate Checkpoint

e |TE and Quesco staff completed the Hong Kong Marathon
2006

e |TE and Quesco received the “Caring Company Logo” by
The Hong Kong Council of Social Welfare for four years and
two years respectively

e Successfully completed Exhibition in “IT Week 2005” Macao

e The ITE Smart Key Management System Patent was
successfully granted by State Intellectual Property Office of
the People’s Republic of China

s BEXT AZMEERNEMEMERRARERNRARE

s EBESEREBEARE  HRMSETRRREEERTR

o B A ERH O

o EPIBRIITREREZMBEEHEFN [ BHBERS | REMZE
BB ILBER N BR BB EXER

o BEREMETHIITHEEFRL2006

c BEREBEIFRIEREEFEM [BRERIE &S

o BERITEMRAP [EMBHLE2005] RE

s BEMYWENFEARANBERNAEER [HEEDHER
MEZZ L | EF)



Winning of “Hong Kong Awards For Industries 2007 — Machinery and Equipment
Design Award Certificate of Merit” for “Wireless Smartcard Transaction Controller
featuring Bluetooth technology”

Official Launch of Extension of Macao Automated Passenger Management System
("APMS")

Granting of Research Funding by Innovation and Technology Commission of HK to
RF Tech Ltd.

Forming Strategic Partnership with Macao Pass Card

New Trademark and Logo for RF Tech Ltd.’s Software Product Series (“intelli”)
Granting of the First U.S. Design Patent by the United States Patent and Trademark
Office to RF Tech Ltd.

[FEAEE T BRI SRR R ZEHRE | KBS LF R B IR — HIBIRRE
BHE

xRS B REEERS (APMS)) WIER RS

RF Tech Ltd. BZHERE BRAF R BNAF RBEMEES

22 [RPYE | SRR S 1ER

lintelli ] ZEM AR ABRF Tech Ltd B E R R FINBERIZH

RF Tech Ltd. 5 W EVE B SR 1E/R 9 ZEIR 557

Become the regional channel partner of the world leading smartcard and digital
security company, Gemalto SA

Completion of the first Innovation and Technology Commission funded research and
development project, Embedded Computer Vision Escalator Passenger Monitor, together
with a PCT patent filed

Delivery of the first multi-applications smartcard system built on MacaoPass Card for
a luxury real estate complex in Macao

Completion of a sophisticated equipment asset management system for the Macao
Prison using RFID technologies

Completion of the first smartcard driven passage management and access control
system for the Lingnan University

Collaboration with the Hong Kong Polytechnic University through the first technology
transfer and licensing arrangement for a digital security product

B IREREF R BB T RER L BB Gemalto SABE S ERB A HE
HIEESAFREBESENER — [RAXERR BT ARERERE
B |- BRI  EBER SRR BRI SR

RUBE R NEEENRM RS RS IRERRGNREXEER

PRI AP B R B R IR A A SRR B RNV E B R 5
AERAASRHEEER FBERMERS

HEBETAEHESE  BBRITEBRRABZRER

Corporate Review
NGIIEE

Delivery of the first campus smartcard system based on Macau
Pass Card for Macao Pui Ching Middle School

Partnering with Canon Hong Kong for the development of Macau
Pass Card driven e-payment solution for their photocopiers
System migration from contact to contactless smartcards for The
Chinese University of Hong Kong

Award of hospital-wide access control system contracts for Queen
Elizabeth Hospital, Grantham Hospital, The Duchess of Kent
Children’s Hospital and Tung Wah Hospital

Award of contract for the provision of computer personnel services
for the Hong Kong Hospital Authority

Completion of Exhibition in “CARTES in Asia”

R ARPUZEPERBERINENRMIEFIRESEFRS
EECanonfXREE B R RA R AR - AZhBI S A [RPY
Bl FERARETHNZ IR RITIRE T BN ERS
REBPNAREBEE R HEAEENERTEEER
ERMZHERNERFREAN  BEFFIALER - B2t
IR~ KOBIREABRA R BB R REERT
BEREREREERRMUEMSVESRENEN

MRINTER [T ERE R S 18RI BT TR |

Collaboration with Automotive Parts and Accessory Systems R&D
Centre (“APAS") for development of Electric Vehicle Fast Charging
Station with Professional E-payment System, and completion of
exhibitions in various regions

Expand collaboration with Canon Hong Kong for development

of Octopus Card driven e-payment solutions for their document
management systems

Delivery of the first multi-applications payment solution based on
MacauPass Card for the Macao Institute for Tourism Studies

e Development of the first active-RFID based track and trace

application for Macao law enforcement government department

Launch of the World's 1st Dual Frequency RFID guard tour reader

with Bluetooth connectivity

ERHEENMMARBRPOEE  BREAEEETRERLS
EEEREZTEL  UESERENRESRER

EECanonfEREEBEIRA BB G » MINBRER [/ EE |+

FERRETHZ IS RITIRE FNERS

PRI ARPINREEERR RS R S EHEER DRPIE | EaEF2T)

BRETFNERS
RRPIREBATRIPIRA 3 B RE RN B RAER R BT B KB

PSR ERASHERRI FIRKERR - WERE T SIS B IR
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Corporate Review
NIIEI

¢ Extended coverage of intellAC intelligent security systems to the eighth public hospital
in Hong Kong

Complete delivery of an advanced hybrid RFID enabled library automated system for
an academic institute in Macao

Complete delivery of an automatic fare collection system for a public swimming pool
of the Hong Kong SAR Government

Award of contract for the design and supply of book sorter system for a public library
of the Hong Kong SAR Government

Launch of 20Kw DC fast charging station for electric vehicle charging application
Trail testing of electric vehicle fast charging stations at Government Department and
automobile service centre

Invention patent granted for ‘Embedded Computer Vision Escalator Passenger
Monitor’ by the State Intellectual Property Office
REEERZAREEBALERECERE /B

B FNRPIRERR TR R —HERGSERR R B 7R AR iTH BB E S EE
TERZNEBENE T2 ARFKEN BB RBE RS

ER—EARBENE FAREERRHURZEENAHIERENEH

[20F REHHEZRRETEBI | RERRATSEA

BEEBBNT M REEEBERE P OETRET BIEE HT

SR E TRARGERRERRAREREREE | BPEARANBERAR®E
R TER

ITE (Holdings) Limited

e Launch an Octopus Card payment solution for two fast charging
stations of electric vehicle in Hong Kong Island

Complete delivery of the second automatic fare collection system
for a public swimming pool of the Hong Kong SAR Government
Expand the hospital smartcard platform to intelligent emergency
call system and lift control system

Awarded a contract for the design and supply Computerised
Vehicle Inspection System for the Transport Department of Hong
Kong SAR Government

Accredited the Certificate of Merit in 2012 Hong Kong Awards
for Industries with HOMAC® RD-200AB ISO 15693 Handheld
Antenna Reader

Accredited two “Certificate of Merits in Hong Kong RFID Awards
2012" with HOMAC® RD-200AB ISO 15693 Handheld Antenna
Reader and Embedded Computer Vision and RFID Enabled Book
Enrolment Mechanism

Invention patent granted for “Device for registering and managing
book based on computer vision and radio frequency identification
technique” by the State Intellectual Property Office of the People’s
Republic of China

s MA [HRANERKREZASEHEERMETEL | NESEE
HEA

TRRZAEBEEBBURE T ARFKEN BB RE R
ERBRERFEEARERSRYAGRARKERRS
ER—BARBBNE T ERENEMLBRRIRS
[EAGHERBIHMTH F 15 BERS | B1520128 B T HRMeER
BT ARTHERRSE

[ERGHER BT F 5 BERS | K [ SRR E AR RRE |
WIS E20128BREGIEAPI AREREERS

SREHA [ERERRE R RN SR B L EEEE |
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e Complete Type Approval of the new Access Control System and Vehicle
Parking Management System for Octopus Cards

e Complete Type Approval of the new Vehicle Parking Management System for
MacauPass Cards

e Complete delivery of the full-scale territory-wide property client management
system for MTRC in Hong Kong

e Expand the hospital smartcard platform for the control and management of
new buildings and wards

e Awarded a new contract for the design, development, supply and delivery
of hardware, software and related professional services for the electronic
payment system of electric vehicle fast charging station of a local utility
company

e Launch of “Pay-by-Smartphone” software product to the intelli® software
family in supporting of e-payment applications

e Accredited the “Certificate of Merit in Hong Kong RFID Awards 2013" for
HOMAC® ML-100GTB Advanced Guard Tour Reader

CEWM[NEBFARAR | MEEARENE  FAIRBXEH R/ EBFH
FIREHRGEREEERRR

CEH NEPIERMARAT | BERENH  RABBRMBFATENEES
BERS

o MR AT [ERBEEERDFE | PESENEARMHRN RS SRR

c AEBMNUBREDHEEERZRAS

o R — D AEIERE - R RURRINERGRE TS ERBEEERBEN
BEEREL

HHHEFHEEARR  2HMinteliPBS “Pay-by-Smartphone” B G H

o BT A [ ERGHER B BT F 15K EBIEERFHOMAC ML-100GBT | » &[5
[2013F B BRI ERBI KRERES |

Corporate Review
NGIIEE

e Complete delivery of a sophisticated smart parking system
for the Chinese University of Hong Kong, which handles up
to 10,000 vehicles access on peak day

e Granted a US patent No. US8,885,048 B2, "Device for
registering and managing book based on computer vision
and radio frequency identification techniques"

e Launch of new hardware and software products of
"HOMAC SPM-10" Smart Parking Meter and "intelliSPM"
Intelligent Smart Parking Meter management system to
the HOMAC(r) product series and intelli® software family
in support of multiple ePayment solution for parking meter
application

e Complete delivery of facility equipment for the hostels of
the University of Macau at their new campus on Henggin
Island, Zhuhai

e Accredited the CHAdeMO certification of the EFS-50 Smart
Electric Vehicle Fast Charger jointly developed with the Hong
Kong Automotive Parts and Accessory Systems R&D Centre

e Awarded with the sixth consecutive service contract for the
production and personalization of student smartcards for
the Vocational Training Council

MR NEBHNARBEESEREERS  ZARNSEHS
RERE-BARAEESY

o BT —IEEBE#HAEFRREIRUSS,885,048 B2 » ZIEEFZLL
SRR BN SRR R MEERNEAB R EEEE

o SHETEREHBIRER BB AL » HH 2 HEH THOMAC SPM-
101 M lintelliSPM ] S UX EZ REE FNEHARATR

e AWBRBENRMABESRMURBR/MLE RIS

o B [FEABEHHART L SEMBHN [SEEDERER
EIAEFS-50] Bi&@iB A A [ CHAdeMO | #9525

cEEBEANFREIBEIRBEN  EERRMHEALEESEE
&
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Corporate Review
NIIEI

e Awarded a new contract for the design, supply, delivery, installation,

testing, commissioning, documentation, training, management, operation,
maintenance and other related services for a new parking meter system trial
scheme of the Transport Department of HKSAR

e Awarded a new contract for the supply, delivery, installation of hardware,
software and related professional services for a new integrated security
system of Yau Ma Tei Specialist Clinic of the Hospital Authority at Queen
Elizabeth Hospital

e Complete delivery of a sophisticated RFID mortuary and autopsy management
system for six local hospitals in HKSAR, which streamlining the operations and
enhancing the management of bodies in HA mortuaries

e Launch of new hardware and software products of “HOMAC PTO-10", an
intelligent e-payment terminal which supports Octopus card payment for
semi-fast charging services of electric vehicle using 32A A/C supply

e Multi-standard Mobilized EV Smart Charger which is jointly developed
with the Hong Kong Automotive Parts and Accessory Systems R&D Centre,
awarded with Silver Medal in the 44th International Exhibition of Inventions
Geneva

e Awarded with the seventh consecutive service contract for the production
and personalization of student smartcards for the Vocational Training Council

e Awarded a new contract for the design, supply, delivery and installation of
the security access control system upgrade of Amoy Gardens

CEMEBRBITHEERBEAERERARSARTE > R H#HE- X
> =248 BIH - AR SUE S B B EE - SR RAMBERENTS
El

s KREREERBTFANABRIAHMEERDARM » T - TEEMHF - B4
REBEERENGFEZEZRABTER

e RABARERNBERBHERME - EEXGIRBMBIBRMEALS AR
15 REHBEENE

o HEHZH THOMAC PTO-10| Eft  BANEBFEFHNE - XEEHTH32A
TRBHRET BRI ED LT F SR

cH[ABEEHHMARBRPL I ARMBLE - SBRDXEHTEXTBUER
R E44E B NFERERR | PREHRE

cBEBLFINEA MEINRE | BTRE2RREBEAMERBERREED

BB EREE ] RAPIERZNHSE
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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (“the board”) of directors (the “directors”),
| hereby present the annual results for ITE (Holdings) Limited (the
“company”) and its subsidiaries (together, “ITE” or the “group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2016.

Mission

The mission of the group is to become the leading provider of smartcard,
radio frequency identification (“RFID"), biometrics product and solution
and professional services in the world. ITE has been pioneering and has
achieved outstanding performance in the areas of smartcard solutions
and integration services in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
("Hong Kong” or “HKSAR"), the Macao Special Administrative Region
("Macao”) and the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"). With profound
expertise, strong research and development (“R&D") capability, proven
track record and excellent reputation, the group has established a leading
profile in our industry and has adopted a proactive approach to introduce
innovative and customized smartcard, RFID and biometrics applications
to our clients. Leveraging on our extensive industry experience and
intellectual assets, ITE will continue to develop innovative products and
multi-applications solutions for clients coming from different industries
and to expand our businesses to more overseas countries.

Appreciation
I ' would like to take this opportunity to express my deepest thanks to my

directors, management and staff for their dedication and hard work, and
shareholders, financiers and business partners for their continued support.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent

Chairman

Hong Kong, 15 June 2016
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graphical Details of Directors & Senior Management
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Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, aged 52, is an Executive Director, Chief
Executive Officer and one of the founders of the group. He is responsible
for overall strategic planning and management of the group. With over
29 years of experience in the executive management, he was engaged
in China trade before founding the group. Mr. Lau graduated from The
University of Hong Kong with a first class honours Degree of Bachelor
of Science in Mechanical Engineering. He holds a number of invention
patents and has led many research and development projects under the
funding schemes of the Innovation Technology Commission of Hong Kong
Government. He is the industrial advisor to the Engineering Departments
of The City University of Hong Kong and The University of Hong Kong.

Mr. George Roger Manho, aged 53, is an Executive Director and one of
the founders of the group. Mr. Manho has 28 years of experience in the
control and automation industries, electrical and mechanical projects and
engineering management. He is a Chartered Engineer and a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Engineers, The Institute of Marine Engineers
and The Hong Kong Institute of Marine Technology and the Institution
of Fire Engineers. He holds a Master degree in Engineering Studies in
Mechanical Engineering from the University of Sydney and a Bachelor
of Science (Engineering) degree with first class honours in Marine
Engineering from the University of Newcastle Upon Tyne.

Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung, aged 53, is an Executive Director and one of
the founders of the group. He is responsible for technical management
and research and development (R&D). With 32 years of experience in R&D
and production management, Mr. Cheng won the awards of the Hong
Kong Awards for Industry for seven times (two Machinery and Equipment
Design in 2005 and 2007, one Consumer Product Design in each of 1993,
2000 and 2001 and two Designs in 1997). He holds a Higher Diploma in
Electronics Engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Biographical Details of Directors & Senior Management

Mr. Liu Hoi Wah, aged 47, is an Executive Director of the group. He
is responsible for financial management, accounting and corporate
development. Mr. Liu graduated from The London School of Economics
and Political Science of the University of London with a Bachelor of
Science degree, first class honours in Management Sciences. He is an
associate member of each of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales (“ICAEW") and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Mr. Liu is the younger brother of Mr. Lau
Hon Kwong, Vincent.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, CBE, BS, FHKIE, JP, aged 76, holds an honorary
doctoral degree in engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
and an honorary doctoral in laws from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong. He was formerly a member of the Hong Kong Legislative Council
from 1978 to 1997 and a senior member of the Hong Kong Legislative
Council from 1988 to 1991. Dr. Lee was also a member of the Hong Kong
Executive Council from 1985 to 1992.

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, aged 50, is the Managing Director of
Anthony Kam & Associates Limited, Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Kam has been awarded an Honorary Fellowship from the University of
Wolverhampton, the United Kingdom. He is a Certified Public Accountant/
Chartered Accountant qualified in the People’s Republic of China, the
United Kingdom and Hong Kong. Mr. Kam has over 27 years’ experience
in auditing, accounting and tax matters, both in private and public

companies.

Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew, 0B.E. (Hon), JP, aged 72, holds a Bachelor
of Arts (Honours) degree in literature from The University of Hong Kong
and a Master of Public Administration degree from the Syracuse University,
USA. He was formerly a member of the Legislative Council from 1985 to
2004 and was also the President of the Legislative Council from 1995 to
1997. Mr. Wong had been lecturing at the Chinese University of Hong
Kong since 1970 and is now retired.
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Biographical Details of Directors & Senior Management

E=ZkEHREEEER

Senior Management

Mr. But Wui Fai, Cyrus, aged 48, is an associated director (Project and
Sales) of the Group. Mr. But is responsible for management of project
commissioning of the group. With 25 years of experience in IT and RFID
industry on project management, systems design and implementation. Mr.
But had achieved numerous project assignments in government sectors,
public utilities, tertiary institutions and public listed companies. He worked
for 10 years in an IT consultancy company in Hong Kong before joining
the group in September 2001.

Ms. Yeung Yuen Chun, Mona, aged 42, is the Financial Controller and
associated director of the group. Ms. Yeung is responsible for managing
the group’s finance and accounting operations, performing statutory
and management reporting. Ms. Yeung has over 19 years in auditing,
accounting and financial analysis. She is an associate member of the
ICAEW and a fellow member of the ACCA and the HKICPA. She holds a
Bachelor Degree of Business Administration (Honours) in Accounting from
Hong Kong Baptist University.

Ms. Yeung Yee Ching, Posy, aged 35, is an associated director of the
group. Ms. Yeung is responsible the overall operation and knowledge
management functions of the company. With 11 years of experience
in product design and production management. She holds a degree of
Master of Philosophy and a degree of Bachelor of Engineering in Industrial
and Systems Engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis
%EE} = Eﬁ&%\jfﬁ_

Management of the group has continued to utilise our professional and
committed workforce and financial resources to achieve maximum return
to our shareholders.

Business Review

During the year, our solution and professional services arm, ITE Smartcard
Solutions Limited (“ITES”), has been awarded with a number of new
contracts by our clients. The orders covered the supply of hardware and
software and the provision of professional services to expand or enhance
their smartcard application platforms. For the seventh consecutive year,
ITES provided the production and personalization services of the student
smartcards for various institutes of the Hong Kong Vocational Training
Council. More than 10,000 pieces of student smartcards were produced
and delivered.

ITES has been awarded with a new contract for the design, supply
and implementation services of a RFID asset management system for a
government department. The project will deploy Ultra High Frequency
("UHF") RFID technology complying with 1SO18000, thousands of
government assets will be tagged by different form factor tags and read
by handheld reader devices. ITES shall provide all hardware, software and
related professional services to meet the requirements and needs of our
client. A new HOMAC UHF handheld reader device with Bluetooth and
rechargeable lithium battery technologies will be developed and used for
this system.

We were also awarded with a new contract for the access control system
upgrade of Amoy Gardens. ITES provided the first Mifare smartcard
access control system for Amoy Gardens back in 2003. We were the first
contractor to provide solution and professional services for Amoy Gardens
after the SARS tragedy happened in early 2003. We are extremely
delighted to have the opportunity to continue the provision of professional
services to all Amoy Gardens residents.

Our R&D arm, RF Tech Limited, has added new hardware and software
libraries to our product family. Our continual efforts in innovation and
R&D have created and accumulated new intellectual property rights with a
number of patents, design registrations and service trademarks filed.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE wtam A

Climate change has posed an unprecedented, global challenge for
everyone. Being part of the international community, ITE shall contribute
to the solution. Jointly developed with the Automotive Parts and Accessory
Systems R&D Centre (“APAS"”) of Hong Kong Productivity Council
("HKPC"), the first mobilized electric vehicle (“EV"”) charger in Hong
Kong has received international attention. This innovation showcased at
the ‘44th International Exhibition of Inventions Geneva’' in Switzerland
have garnered a Silver Award. This is recognition of the efforts and
dedication of the research teams in providing creative applied solutions
to the industry. HKPC/APAS and ITE will continue to embark on applied
R&D to assist enterprises to adopt innovative technologies to enhance
competitiveness, while improving the quality of living for the community.

While traditional EV charging stations are stationed in a fixed location, the
mobilized EV charger offers highly flexible and multi-standard charging
solutions for EVs or fleet EVs, where EV charging stations are not available.
Compared to other emergency diesel engine charging service truck in
overseas, the mobilized EV charger is more eco-friendly as the electricity is
supplied by a battery pack. It supports full range of EV brands from Tesla,
Nissan, BMW and Volkswagen.

One Smart Electric Vehicle Fast Charging Station was installed at the
Hong Kong International Airport for a public trial scheme funded by the
Innovation Technology Commission. Another two charging stations will be
installed for two government departments in the coming quarters.

For the fifth consecutive year, colleagues, families and friends of ITE
continued to support “Charity Walk 2016" of Suicide Prevention Services
(“SPS") and achieved the fund-raising target. All donations will be used in
SPS services for serving people of all ages in Hong Kong who are suicidal,
in despair or emotionally distressed by befriending them, and offering
services to help them to regain control of their emotions and find the
will to carry on. We also welcome new interns joining the Group. They
came from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, The Chinese University
of Hong Kong and Hong Kong Vocational Training Council with different
engineering disciplines ranging from computing, electronic, information,
mechanical and system engineering. Since 2006, ITE has been supporting
internship program for university undergraduates for ten years. We have
assisted more than one hundred students to gain solid experience and
knowledge in their fields through actual work responsibilities.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Future Prospect

Since our establishment, we have been focusing on our core business and
technologies, we continue to devote our efforts and resources for the long
term growth of the group building on our Innovation, Technology and
Excellency; three words which best explain the name of ITE.

All members of the company performed professionally under the
corporate vision, mission and core values. Every year, new intellectual
assets are created, accumulated and protected, and the range of
professional services continues to expand to meet the fast growing needs
of the changing market. We have firmly maintained our position as the

pure rider to provide innovative solutions to our clients.

With improving efficiency and effectiveness, new product development
and professional services enhancement, the directors are optimistic that

our sustainability and profitability will continue to improve.
Compliance with Laws and Regulations

As far as the board of directors of the company and management are
aware, the group has complied in material respects with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the group. During the year, there was no material breach of
or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the group.

Financial Performance

For the year ended 31 March 2016, the group recorded a turnover of
approximately HK$24 million, representing a decrease of 18% over last
year. Profit for the year attributable to owners of the company for the year
ended 31 March 2016 was approximately HK$0.3 million as compared to
that of approximately HK$3.2 million for last year.

Segmental Information
During the year, the group recorded a decrease in turnover for about 18%

when compared with last year. However, the group’s gross profit margin
had improved from 39% in last year to 41% in current year.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE wtam A

The service revenue generated from core business, i.e. the provision of
the smartcard systems, RFID and information technology (“IT") services
and related sales, was HK$11,318,269 (2015: HK$15,748,502) which
decreased by 28%. On the other hand, the income from maintenance
services increased by 3% to HK$11,943,838 (2015: HK$11,586,449).

The group’s administrative expenses increased by 11% to HK$10,186,386
(2015: HK$9,203,259). This main reason of such increase was due to
the granting of share options in July 2015 and the related share-based
payment expense amounted to HK$1,029,300 was fully recognized
during the year. However, the research and development cost and
associated sponsorship was dropped by 32% to HK$1,123,377 (2015:
HK$1,659,950). Expenditure on research and development activities was
totally expensed in profit or loss during the year.

During the year, the group maintained a healthy liquidity position and
therefore the finance costs was HK$Nil (2015: HK$Nil).

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The group generally financed its operations with its internally generated
cash flows. At 31 March 2016, the group did not have any outstanding
borrowings. At 31 March 2016, the current ratio of the group was 3.29
(2015: 2.88) while the liquidity ratio was 3.08 (2015: 2.71).

The group continues to adopt a conservative approach in its treasury
policy. The group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing
ongoing credit evaluations of the financial condition of its customers.
Besides, the group’s liquidity and financing arrangements are also reviewed
regularly.

Taking into consideration the stringent cost control and the existing
financial resources available to the group, it is believed that the group
should have adequate financial resources to meet its operation,
development requirements and investments in the future.

Gearing Ratio

At 31 March 2016, the gearing ratio of the group, which is calculated as
the ratio of total borrowings to total equity, was Nil (2015: Nil).

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Treasury Policy

The group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the period under review. The group strives to reduce
exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments and
evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity
risk, the board closely monitors the group’s liquidity position to ensure
that the liquidity structure of the group’s assets, liabilities and other

commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.
Significant Investments
The group had no significant investments during the year under review.

Material Acquisitions or Disposals of
Subsidiaries and Affiliated Companies

During the year under review, the group had no acquisitions and disposals
of subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

Employment Information

The group recognises that its staff is one of the group’s most important
assets. Aiming at providing competitive salary packages, the group
adjusts employees’ salary level in close association with the performance,
qualifications and experience of individual staff as well as labour market
conditions. In addition to the regular remuneration, discretionary bonus
and share options may be awarded to eligible employees with reference
to individual performance and the group’s business performance.

The group enjoys good relations with its staff and has not experienced any
disruption of operations due to major labour disputes. In addition to the
remuneration as mentioned above, the group also provides fringe benefits
which comply with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC and Hong
Kong including contributions to the Social Security Scheme in the PRC and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme in Hong Kong. Besides, the group
also provides on-going training programmes for its employees to keep
them abreast of the latest market trends and new technologies.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE wfam

At 31 March 2016, the group had 55 (2015: 56) full-time employees,
of which 51 (2015: 51) are based in Hong Kong and the rest are in
the PRC and Macao. Staff costs, including directors’ remuneration, was
approximately HK$15 million (2015: HK$13 million) for the year ended 31
March 2016. On 9 July 2015, the company had granted 10,950,000 share
options to its directors and employees.

Charges on Group Assets

At 31 March 2016, HK$2,000,170 time deposit (2015: HK$Nil) was
pledged to a bank to secure certain banking facilities of a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the company.

Future Plans for Material Investments

The group did not have any plans for material investment and acquisition
of material capital assets as at 31 March 2016.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and
Related Hedges

The group’s assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses are mainly
denominated in HK$, United States dollars (“US$"), Macao Patacas
(“MOP") and Renminbi (“RMB"). The exchange rates between HK$, US$,
MOP and RMB have been very steady for the past few years. During the
year, the group generally used the receipts from customers to pay its
suppliers and meet its capital requirements. They are denominated in the
local currency of the place in which the subsidiaries operate. The group
does not currently engage in hedging to manage possible exchange
rate risk as the group considers the cost associated with such hedging
arrangements would exceed the benefits. However, management will
continue to monitor the possible exposure to exchange rate risk and will
take such measures as it deems prudent.

Contingent Liability

At 31 March 2016, the company did not have any contingent liability.
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Corporate Governance Report

The company is firmly committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate governance
emphasising transparency, independence, accountability, responsibility and
fairness. The board ensures that effective self-requlatory practices exist to
protect the interests of the shareholders of the company.

The company has applied the principles and complied with all the code
“Code")
contained in Appendix 15 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities

provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the

on the Growth Enterprises Market of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31 March
2016, save for the deviations discussed below.

Under the code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive officer should be clearly established and set
out in writing.

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent is both the chairman and chief executive
officer of the company who is responsible for managing the board and
the group’s business. Mr. Lau has been both chairman and chief executive
officer of the company since its incorporation. The board considers that,
with the present board structure and scope of business of the group,
there is no imminent need to separate the roles into two individuals as
Mr. Lau is perfectly capable of distinguishing the priority of these roles
in which he has been acting. However, the board will continue to review
the effectiveness of the group’s corporate governance structure to assess
whether the separation of the positions of chairman and chief executive
officer is necessary.

Under the code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. However,
the non-executive directors do not have a specific term of appointment,
but are subject to rotation in accordance with the articles of association of
the company.
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Corporate Governance Report
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Directors’ Securities Transactions

The company has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules throughout the year ended 31 March 2016. Having made specific
enquiry of all directors, the directors have complied with such code of
conduct and the required standard of dealings throughout the year ended
31 March 2016.

Board of Directors and Board Meeting

The board which currently comprises four executive directors and three
independent non-executive directors, is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and business development of the group. Details of
the directors are set in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this report. All directors give sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the group. To the best knowledge of the board,
there is no financial, business and family relationship among the members
of the board except that Mr. Liu Hoi Wah is the younger brother of Mr.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent.

The independent non-executive directors, Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen and Mr.
Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, have been serving the board as independent
non-executive directors for more than nine years and have consistently
demonstrated their willingness to exercise independent judgments
and provide objective challenges to management. They have actively
participated in board meetings and board committee meetings held
during the year and have shown themselves able to give constructive and
independent advice to the board over significant issues. Therefore, the
board considers that both of them remain independent, notwithstanding
the length of their tenure as independent non-executive directors.

All independent non-executive directors, do not have any business or
significant financial interests with the group and each of them have
confirmed their independence to the group pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. Based on the above-mentioned, the board considers
that all independent non-executive directors are independent as required
under the GEM Listing Rules.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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With the various experience of both the executive directors and the
independent non-executive directors and the nature of the group’s
business, the board considers that the directors have a balance of skills
and experience for the business of the group.

All directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. All
directors have been updated on the latest developments regarding the
GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices. Continuing briefings and professional development to directors
will be arranged wherever necessary.

The board meets regularly at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. Such regular meetings will normally involve the active
participation, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, of a majority of directors entitled to be present.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, four board meetings were held
and the following is an attendance record of the meetings by each
director.

Attendance
Executive directors
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 4/4
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 4/4
Mr. George Roger Manho 0/4
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah 3/4
Independent non-executive directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 4/4
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 4/4
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew 2/4

During regular meetings of the board, the directors discuss and formulate
the overall strategies of the group, monitor financial performances and
discuss the annual, interim and quarterly results, as well as discuss and
decide on other significant matters. Execution of daily operational matters
is delegated to management.
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Notice of regular board meeting is usually given at least 14 days in
advances to give all directors an opportunity to attend. An agenda for
each board meeting will be prepared and normally distributed to the
directors together with necessary board papers and related materials at
least four days before the board meeting. Directors are free to add any
items on the agenda as they may think fit. The company secretary is
responsible for recording the matters considered and decisions reached by
the board including any concerns or dissenting views raised by directors.
Minutes of board meetings and the board committees meetings will be
sent to all directors for their comments and records as soon as after the
board meeting.

Minutes of board meetings and board committees meetings are kept by
the company secretary and such minutes are open for inspection within
reasonable advance notice.

All directors have access to relevant and timely information, and they can
ask for further information or retain independent professional advisors
if necessary. They also have unrestricted access to the advice and service
of the company secretary, who is responsible for providing directors with
board papers and related materials and ensuring that board procedures
are followed.

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial shareholder
or director arise, the matter is discussed in an actual meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolution. Independent non-executive
directors with no conflict of interest are present at meetings dealing with
conflict issues. Board committees, including the Audit, Remuneration and
Nomination Committees, all follow the applicable practices and procedures

used in board meetings for committee meetings.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual.
The company did not segregate the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer. The role of the chief executive officer was performed by
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, who was the then existing chairman of the
company during the year under review. Apart from the reason of such
deviation mentioned above, the board also believes that vesting the roles
of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same person provides
the company with strong and consistent leadership, and allows for
effective and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions
and strategies.
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The board will periodically review the merits and demerits of such
management structure and will adopt such appropriate measures as may
be necessary in the future taking into consideration of the nature and
extent of the group’s operation.

Audit Committee

The company has established an audit committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The audit committee comprises three independent non-executive directors,
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen (being the chairman of the audit committee), Mr.
Kam Hau Choi, Anthony and Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew.

The primary duties of the audit committee are to review the company’s
annual report and accounts, half-yearly report and quarterly reports
and to provide advices and comments thereon to the board. The audit
committee meets at least four times a year with management to review
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the group and to
discuss auditing, financial reporting matters, internal control and also
risk management system. The principal terms of reference includes, inter
alia, its relationship with the company’s external auditor, review of the
company’s financial information and oversight of the financial reporting
system and internal control procedures of the company.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, four audit committee meetings
were held and the following is an attendance record of the meetings by
each director.

Name of directors Attendance
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 4/4
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 4/4
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew 2/4

The group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2016 have
been reviewed by the audit committee, who is of the opinion that such
statements comply with the applicable accounting standards, the GEM
Listing Rules and legal requirements, and that adequate disclosures had
been made.
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Remuneration Committee

The company established a remuneration committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Code. The roles and functions of
the remuneration committee include the determination of the specific
remuneration packages of all executive directors and senior management
of the company, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, such as any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment, and make recommendations
to the board of the remuneration of non-executive directors. Members
of the remuneration committee include Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, Mr. Kam
Hau Choi, Anthony, Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew and Mr. Lau Hon
Kwong, Vincent, with Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen as chairman. A majority of
the votes in the remuneration committee are exercisable by independent
non-executive directors. No director will be involved in any discussion in

connection with his own remuneration.

The remuneration committee schedules meet at least once a year. During
the year, one remuneration committee meeting was held to review the
remuneration packages of executive directors and the directors’ fees of the
independent non-executive directors and the following is an attendance
record of the meeting by each director.

Name of directors Attendance
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 11
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 11
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew 11
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 11

Nomination Committee

The company established a nomination committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Code. Members of the nomination
committee include Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony,
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew and Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, with Dr.
Lee Peng Fei, Allen as chairman.

The nomination committee shall meet before the annual general meeting

of the company, or at other times as required by the chairman of the
nomination committee.
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The roles and functions of the nomination committee include the
appointment and removal of directors, reviews the background,
experience, qualification, general market conditions and the company’s
articles of association in selecting and recommending candidates for
directorship.

During the year, one nomination committee meeting was held and the
following is an attendance record of the meeting by each director.

Name of directors Attendance
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 71
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 11
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew 0/1
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 71

During the meeting, members considered and resolved that all the existing
directors shall be recommended to be retained by the company. Further,
Mr. George Roger Manho, Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen and Mr. Wong Wang
Fat, Andrew will retire from the board in accordance with Article 108 of
the company’s articles of association at the forthcoming annual general
meeting, and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparation of the
financial statements of the group and ensure that the financial statements
are in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial
statements of the group.

The statements of external auditor of the company, Baker Tilly Hong Kong
Limited, about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
of the group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 41
to 42 of this annual report.
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Internal Control and Risk Management

The board is responsible for overseeing the system of internal control of
the group and for reviewing its effectiveness. To facilities the effectiveness
and efficiency of operations and to ensure compliance with relevant
laws and regulations, the group emphasizes on the importance of a
sound internal control system which is also indispensable for mitigating
the group’s risk exposures. A sound and effective internal control
system is designed for (i) safeguarding the interests of shareholders; (ii)
safeguarding assets of the group against misappropriation; (iii) ensuring
proper maintenance of accounting records for the provision of reliable
financial information; and (iv) ensuring compliance with the relevant
laws, regulations, and internal policies. Such system of internal control
is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss and to manage and eliminate risks of failure
in operational systems and fulfilment of the business objectives.

The internal control policies and procedures mainly cover areas of finance,
operations and compliance. The company shall conduct an annual review
of the internal control policies and procedures to assess its effectiveness
and shall make recommendations to the board if any significant areas of
concern are identified.

During the year, the board, through the audit committee, has assessed
the effectiveness of the internal control system of the group including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
staff

qualifications and experience, training programmes, and budget of the

functions and has considered the adequacy of resources,
group’s accounting and financial reporting function. The board is satisfied
that, the present system of internal control is effective. The group does
not have an internal audit function and does not see the need to have
one.

Company Secretary

The company secretary has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional trainings to update her skills and knowledge during the year.
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External Auditors

The audit committee is responsible for considering the appointment of
the external auditors and reviewing any non-audit functions performed by
the external auditors of the group. In particular, the audit committee will
consider, in advance of them being contracted for such service, whether
such non-audit service could lead to any potential material conflict of
interest. Nothing has come to its attention to cause the audit committee
to believe that the non-audit services provided by the external auditors
affect their independence, objectivity and effectiveness in the audit
process in accordance with applicable standard.

For the year ended 31 March 2016, the fee payable to the auditors in
respect of audit services amounted to HK$358,000 while the fee payable
to the auditors in respect of non-audit services relating to the taxation
amounted to HK$30,500.

Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting and to Put Forward Proposal

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law
(2012 Revision). However, shareholders are requested to follow article
64 of the Articles of Association of the company, general meetings shall
be convened on the written requisition of any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the board or the secretary of the company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting the requisition(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director

The provisions for a shareholder to propose a person for election as a
director of the company are laid down in article 113 of the company’s
Articles of Association. No person other than a director retiring at the
meeting shall, unless recommended by the board for election, be eligible
for election to the office of director at any general meeting unless a
notice in writing of the intention to propose such person for election as a
director, signed by a shareholder (other than the person to be proposed
for election as a director) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting
for which such notice is given, and a notice in writing signed by such
person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the head
office or at the Registration Office. The minimum length of the period
during which such notices are given shall be at least seven (7) days and
the period for lodgement of such notices shall commence no earlier than
the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of
such general meeting.

Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the board, shareholders may send
written enquiries to the company. Shareholders may send their enquiries
or requests in respect of their rights to the company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

Communication with Shareholders

The board is committed to maintaining an ongoing and transparent
communication with all shareholders. The directors host annual general
meeting each year to meet the shareholders and answer their enquiries.
The company uses various communication channels, such as publication
of annual and quarterly reports, press announcements and circulars,
to update the shareholders on the group’s business developments and
financial performance. Such information is also available on the company’s
website: http://www.hkite.com.

Constitutional Documents

During the year, there is no change in the company’s constitutional
documents.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIE

Our Vision

The group aspires to continue to be an industry leader by maximizing
long-term value for society in terms of our economic performance and the
positive social and environmental impacts of our operations.

Environmental measure and performance
Electricity Consumption

The group has formulated our environmental measure with a focus on
ensuring full compliance with applicable legislation and requirements by
promoting environmental awareness among staff, disposing waste in an
environmentally responsible way, and reusing and recycling equipment
and materials.

Renovating and upgrading existing hardware can generate both
environmental and cost reduction benefits. The group continuously
monitors and reviews the effectiveness and performance of our appliances,
replacing any dated or inefficient systems with up-to-date energy saving
technology.

In May 2016, we replaced all T8 & T12 fluorescent lamps with T5 LED
lamps. We also installed new air-conditioning system with “Grade 1"
energy label. Together with other energy saving policy and measure, the
group sets target to reduce the annual office energy consumption by 20%
in the next financial year.

Social Responsibility
Charity and Social Responsibility

Colleagues and friends of ITE continued to support social caring activities.
We participated in the “Action for Love 2015” and “Charity Walk 2016”
of Suicide Prevention Services (“SPS”) and achieved our fund-raising
target. All donations will be used in SPS services for serving people of
ages in Hong Kong who are suicidal, in despair or emotionally distressed
by befriending them, and offering services to help them to regain control
of their emotions and find the will to carry on. We also welcome new
interns joining the group. They came from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University, The City University of Hong Kong, The Chinese University of
Hong Kong and Vocational Training Council with different engineering
disciplines ranging from computing, electronic,
mechanical engineering. ITE has been supporting internship program for

information, and

university undergraduates since 2006. We have assisted over 100 students
to gain solid experience and knowledge in their fields through actual work
responsibilities.
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Employment and Labour Practices

In relation to the human resources, the group is committed to complying
with ordinances relating to disability, sex, family status and race
discrimination, as well as the Employment Ordinance, the Minimum Wage
Ordinance and ordinance relating to occupational safety of employees
of the group, so as to safeguard the interests and well-being of our
employees.

The group is also committed to safeguarding the security of personal data.
When collecting and processing such data, the group complies with the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and guidelines issued by the Office of
the Privacy Commissioner for Personal Data, with a view to protecting the
privacy of our employees and customers. The operation team of the group
in the PRC and Macao also comply with the related laws and regulations
in the PRC and Macao.

Health and Safety

Safe and effective workplace and policies are provided. Every employee is
encouraged to enhance workplace safety.

Training scheme

Each department is responsible for setting and developing their own
training programmes not only to meet the specific business requirements,
but also to build up the on-going skills and career development of our
staff.

Corporate Governance
Risk Management

The audit committee is responsible for considering the effectiveness of
the group’s risk management and internal control systems. The audit
committee adopts a proactive approach to investigate any activities within
its terms of reference. A risk management policy at the group level helps
to direct and manage the group’s identification, analysis and management
of risk so that they are maintained at acceptable level.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Our Finance and Accounting Department also conducts audits of the
group’s major activities to ensure that risk management functions are
in place and functioning effectively. The department reports directly to
the audit committee with their findings. As a responsible organization
with a long-term outlook, the group has adopted a holistic approach
to risk management that considers various aspects of our business and

operations.
Anti-corruption

The group established a strong internal control to institute a vigorous
enforcement regime against corruption and fraud. A strong anti-corruption
and anti-fraud culture is a vital part of the overall governance framework
of the group. We are committed to mobilize resources to safeguard the
assets and interests of our shareholders.

ESG risks within our supply chain are addressed through strict contractual
and tender requirements. We also maintain a list of preferred suppliers so
as to ensure the timely and efficient delivery of the products and services

we require.

As the demand for skills and talent specific to our sector continues to
increase, competition poses the risk of employee turnover. We address
this risk by providing our employees with training opportunities and
competitive benefits, creating loyalty while cultivating their professional
development.
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The directors have pleasure in submitting herewith their annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2016.

Principal activities

The principal activity of ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “company”) is
investment holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial

statements.
Segment Information

Details of segment reporting in respect of the analysis of the principal
activities and geographical locations of the operations of the company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “group”) during the financial
year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

Business review

Details of business review information are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 13 to 18 of this annual

report.
Major customers and suppliers
The information in respect of the group’s turnover and purchases

attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the
financial year is as follows:

EEELARRHE-FT—AFZAS+—ALFEEE
B AR BERE -

FEXRK

ITE (Holdings) Limited ([ZARAF]) M EEXE RIFERE
B - HHTEA AN EZEBFEINGE B REM 33 -

DEEHR

ARBAREMBAR (AT [AEEH]) RAFBRFENER
g 2B AN RN A IS EwRM 13 -

EHOEE

EHEEANERRAFREEZ8EREA [EEE
HRRAM & -

TERFRHER

RAMBEER  AEETEEFPMEEERBRRMHERDR
IERBEFBNT

Percentage of the group’s total

EREBABEE AL
Turnover Purchases
BEH REBER
The largest customer NS 13% -
Five largest customers in aggregate hAREF#B5T 49% -
The largest supplier SAHIER - 19%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AR ERE AT - 43%

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the company (which to the knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the company’s share capital) had any interest in

these major customers and suppliers.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Dividend

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the directors recommend the
payment of a final dividend of HK$0.25 cents per ordinary share of
the company in cash distributed from the share premium account of
the company. The proposed final dividend of HK$2,323,860 had been
approved by the shareholder of the company in the annual general
meeting held on 10 August 2015 and subsequently paid on 8 September
2015. No interim dividend was declared and paid during the year. The
directors do not recommend the payment any dividend in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2016.

Charitable donations

Charitable donations made by the group during the year amounted to
HK$8,300 (2015: HK$3,300).

Share capital

Details of the movements in the share capital of the company are set out
in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pre-emptive rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the company’s
Articles of Association and there was no restriction against such rights
under the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the company to

offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
Directors

The directors who held office during the financial year and up to the date
of this report were:

The company

Executive directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung

Mr. George Roger Manho
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah

Directors’ Report
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Independent non-executive directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony

Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew

In accordance with Article 108 of the company’s Articles of Association,
Mr. George Roger Manho, Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen and Mr. Wong Wang
Fat, Andrew will retire from the board by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election.

The list of directors who have served on the board of directors in the
subsidiaries of the company during the financial year and up to the date
of this report were as follows:

Ms. Yeung Yuen Chun, Mona
Mr. But Wui Fai

Mr. Lam Kwai Sum

Ms. Yeung Yee Ching

Ms. Lau Yuet Ping

Directors’ service contracts

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung and Mr. Liu Hoi
Wah have entered into service contracts with the company on 3 March
2014 for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from 1 April 2014
which will continue thereafter until terminated by three months notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

Mr. George Roger Manho has entered into a service contract with
the company on 1 January 2014 for an initial fixed term of one year
commencing from 1 January 2014 which will continue thereafter until
terminated by three months’ notice in writing served by either party on
the other.

Except for the above, none of the directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract which is
not determinable by the company, or any of its subsidiaries, within one
year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and
short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures

At 31 March 2016, the interests and short positions of each director
and chief executive of the company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO")), which were notified to the company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including any interests and short positions
which they have taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions
of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules”), to be notified to the company and the Stock
Exchange were as follows:

Interests in issued shares of the company

Directors’ Report
EE2gWRE

EERTHRAZNESG  HERORE
SRERNERRAR

RZZE—RNEZA=1+—8 ARASESRITHAHR
BEASMEAEGRIIZE15.7TREISSENIRE » AARIHE
B EE (F&ER(ESHRBE GO ([FHEG]) 5
+HE) - MEMERQERZ GG - 1BRERG & E
HFHRBANEENAR (BIEREBE PG NZERTEWR
REREEA MR SAE) - SNESI A IRIR B B0 E
3S2ETFUFEMECMA - RIFAIZER ETHARAIES.46
Z5.68{&FTE MR RN BME AR F) KA 5 FT 60 #E 2 50%
BHEHIIMT

RRBRAD S

Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

FRO.01EBTEBERRE

Percentage

Personal Corporate Family Other of total

Name of director interests interests interests interests Total issued shares

HERITRE

EENE AR EER RikER HiiigEs &5t BoH

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 6,108,000 (L) 241,102,348 (L) - - 247,210,348 (L) 26.66%

BENLE (Note 2) (Fg7E2)

Mr. George Roger Manho 63,142,254 (L) - - - 63,142,254 (L) 6.81%
B LA

Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 117,392,000 (L) - - - 117,392,000 (L) 12.66%
BRI S A

Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 1,760,000 (L) - - - 1,760,000 (L) 0.19%

FEREL
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Notes:
1. The letter “L" denotes a long position in the shares.
2. These shares are beneficially owned by Rax-Comm (BVI) Limited (“Rax-Comm"),

a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Mr. Lau Hon Kwong,
Vincent held 76.39% of the entire issued share capital of Rax-Comm.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2016, none of the directors,
chief executive of the company or their associates had any interests
in the shares or debentures of, or short positions in the shares of, the
company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO,
including interests or short positions which they have taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO, or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the
GEM Listing Rules, were required to be notified to the company and the
Stock Exchange.

Directors’ and chief executive’s rights to acquire
shares or debt securities

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures”, at no time during the year was the company, or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors and chief
executive of the company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debt securities, including debentures, of the company or
any other body corporate, and none of the directors and chief executive
of the company or their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any
right to subscribe for the securities of the company, or had exercised any

such rights.

ITE (Holdings) Limited

MeE -
1. [L] FRRBDABTE -
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(BVI) Limited ([Rax-Comm ) Fits B - 2E X K ER B
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Interests and short positions of shareholders in
the shares and underlying shares

At 31 March 2016, the following persons, other than a director or chief
executive of the company, had interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the company as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO and so far as is known to any
director or chief executive of the company:

Name of shareholder

Directors’ Report
EE2gWRE

ERBFRG TRRERBENER R KR

RIZ-—REF=ZA=1+—H  REEIEIFEI6KETAT
BENECMAE R EMNARRESRITHRAZAA -
THAL (RRBEFRITHRAERI) RAR BN R
MERAR D h A R SRR

Number of Percentage of

ordinary shares held  total issued shares

FiFEER HERTRG
BRRA BHEE R4
Rax-Comm (note) 241,102,348 26.00%

Rax-Comm (Hff&E)

Note:  These shares have been disclosed as the corporate interests of the relevant

directors in the section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and

short positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures”.

Save as disclosed above, the company had not been notified of any other
person, other than directors or the chief executive of the company, who
had an interest or a short position in the shares and underlying shares
of the company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO and so far is known to any
director or chief executive of the company as at 31 March 2016.

Share option scheme

Details of the company’s share option scheme are set out in note 27 to

the consolidated financial statements.
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Purchase, sale and redemption of shares of the
company

During the year, the company repurchased a total of 2,188,000 shares of
HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the company on the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the general mandates granted by the shareholders at the
annual general meetings of the company held on 8 August 2014 and 10
August 2015, details of which were as follows:

No. of shares

BE - HERBEAQFRSD

FARN - ARABRBR_Z-—HENANBEZZT—1F
NATBERTHRRAFAG TERIERTFTESFHO R
M —REE RXSAENEREESEB001TTE R
2,188,000/ f%1n - FHBELHAT ¢

Price per share repurchased
BRERGER Total

consideration

repurchased Highest Lowest (before expenses)

Date of repurchase BEE A 8 BERDEE B BIE ARERLE CRFEX)
HK$#&7T HK$& 7T HK$&7T

7 July 2015 —E-hFtHtH 200,000 0.130 0.124 25,316
8 July 2015 —E-RFtANH 508,000 0.125 0.110 58,016
18 December 2015 “ZE-hF+=A+NH 1,080,000 0.149 0.148 160,420
11 February 2016 —E-XF=-A+—H 400,000 0.140 0.139 55,996
2,188,000 299,748

All shares repurchased was cancelled subsequently and accordingly the
company’s issued share capital was reduced by the nominal value of these
shares. The repurchases were effected for the benefit of the shareholders
as a whole by enhancing the net assets and earnings per share of the

company.

Save as disclosed above, neither the company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the company’s shares during the year.

Directors’ interests in contracts of significance

No contract of significance to which the company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party, and in which a director of the company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.

Permitted indemnity provision

At no time during the year and up to date of this annual report, there
was or is, any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit
of the directors (whether made by the company or otherwise) or of the
directors of the company’s subsidiaries (if made by the company).

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Management contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the company were
entered into or in existence during the year.

Connected transactions

There were no transactions which should be disclosed in the annual report
as connected transactions in accordance with the requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Five year summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the group for

the last five financial years is set out on page 106 of the annual report.
Emolument policy

The emolument policy for the employees of the group is set up by the
remuneration committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and

competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the company are decided by the
remuneration committee, having regard to the group’s operating results,

individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The company has adopted share option scheme as an incentive to
directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme are set out in note
27 to the consolidated financial statements.

Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information available to the company and within the
knowledge and belief of the directors of the company, the company has
maintained at least the prescribed amount of minimum public float during
the year and up to the date of this report as required under the GEM
Listing Rules.

Directors’ Report
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Confirmation of independence

The company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all of the independent non-
executive directors are independent.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2016
have been audited by Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited. A resolution will be
submitted at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the company
to re-appoint Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as auditor of the company.
There has been no change in the auditor of the company in the recent
three years.

By order of the board

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent

Hong Kong, 15 June 2016

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BAKER TILLY
HONG KONG Kt

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
ITE (Holdings) Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ITE (Holdings)
Limited (the
as the

“company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
“group”) set out on pages 43 to 105, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2016, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the group as at 31 March 2016 and
of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 15 June 2016

Choi Kwong Yu

Practising certificate number P0O5071
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

AN
=

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

S MEM F E W &

—T— /\i A= + Hﬁﬁr LK/%TE@

Note 2016 —Z— K 2015 —_F—HF
B EE HK$7% T HK$#E T
Turnover IS 2] 4 24,169,306 29,395,206
Cost of services rendered B HREARB AR (14,028,575) (17,497,135)
Cost of sales BEEEYIHIRA (188,462) (314,199)
Gross profit EF 9,952,269 11,583,872
Other income and other (losses)/gains, net  E g A & E % (J&18) Uzt 5 564,442 864,716
Administrative expenses THER (10,186,386) (9,203,259)
Share of loss of an associate FE(EEEE N BV EIE 15 (1,010) (1,490)
Profit before taxation BRER AR R 6 329,315 3,243,839
Income tax P11 7(a) = -
Profit for the year attributable to FREQTEE AFAELEF
owners of the company 329,315 3,243,839
Other comprehensive income FRAEMZEBA
for the year 10
ltem that may be reclassified HigrgeERh B e BEm
subsequently to profit or loss: =
— Exchange differences on translation of — — JGSNEFGEIRE Z 58 -
foreign operations, net of nil tax ERNIEEFE 94,024 2,994
Total comprehensive income FAZHEBALRE
for the year 423,339 3,246,833
Earnings per share BREF 12
Basic and diluted (HK cents) BEARRE (BL) 0.04 0.35

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

aRe RIS IR

At 31 March 2016 ( Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) R=F—"F=A=+—H (LETIIE)

44

Note 2016 == —<#F 2015 & —HF
k3 HK$& T HK$E T
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE MR 14 125,113 201,304
Interest in an associate iGN e 15 = 1,010
Goodwill SRS 16 - -
125,113 202,314
Current assets REEE
Inventories PEN 17 1,122,696 1,232,822
Trade and other receivables FEUE 5 I H fih E W IR TR 18 6,184,522 9,311,665
Loans to an associate i lNETN= /¢ 19 200,000 100,000
Financial assets at fair value through FERBERRIEATEEREERN
profit or loss TREE 20 1,764,630 1,585,970
Income tax recoverable AR EIFT1S R 21 158,912 =
Pledged bank deposits EHEBIRITIFR 22 2,000,170 -
Non-pledged time deposits with RIFE BT ERIER
maturity over three months from BAE=EAs
date of deposits FEHE I BRI X 22 = 656,073
Cash and cash equivalents B NEEEEY 22 6,121,320 7,501,072
17,552,250 20,387,602
Current liabilities REBAEE
Trade and other payables JERTE 5 K FoAth FE TR X 23 4,852,487 6,808,248
Provisions B 24 482,093 240,350
Income tax payable FERTRR1S TR 21 - 23,992
5,334,580 7,072,590
Net current assets REBEETEE 12,217,670 13,315,012
Net assets EEFE 12,342,783 13,517,326
Capital and reserves EAXR#E 28
Share capital &N 9,273,560 9,295,440
Reserves & 3,069,223 4,221,886
Total equity HEERS 12,342,783 13,517,326
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 15 June  EFERZZT—RFRNA TR B REETIE -
2016.
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent Cheng Kwok Hung 2I5ERx BRE 1
Director Director e

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated

financial statements.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equ'ty
s T 2 o e B 5%

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ZE—A"EFZA=t+—HLEFE CABTIIE)

Attributable to owners of the company

LN UN: T
Share Share Merger Exchange  Share option  Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses equity
e RiEE affRE  MMENRE  BRERE ZitER Y 3
HKSIE T HKSFE T HKSFE T HKSE T HKSA T HKSET  HKSET
Note (note 28(0))) ~ (note 28(0)i)  (note 28(oii)  (note 28(b)(iv)
i3 (Przraso)y) — (Rzras)in) — (Rskaso)ii) — (PHEE28(b))
At 1 April 2014 RZE-MERA-A 9,295,440 24,951,515 10,748,910 281,108 - (33,147392) 12,129,581
Changes in equity for the year: FRNERSE |
Profit for the year EREH - - - - = 3243839 3243839
Exchange differences on EBIEEER
translation of foreign operations - - - 2,99 - - 2,99
Total comprehensive income EnZENALE
for the year - - - 2,994 - 3243839 3,246,833
Dividend paid in respect of RERESH
previous year 11 - (1,859,088) - - - - (1,859,088)
At31March 2015 and 1 April 2015 R=E-EF=A=1-RHkK
ZEZ-1EMmA-A 9,295,440 23092427 10,748910 284,102 - (29903553 13,517,326
Changes in equity for the year: FANERED |
Profit for the year ERET - - - - - 329315 329,315
Bxchange differences on BIERNREEE
translation of foreign operations - - - 94,024 - - 94,024
Total comprehensive income FREZERAER
for the year - - - 94,024 - 329,315 423,339
Equity-settled share-based payments  FERE LR AERAR 27b) = 4 - = 1,029,300 - 109300
Repurchase of shares EERLA 28a)i) (21,880) (283,182) - = = = (305,062)
Dividend paid in respect of fERSIH
previous year 11 - (2,322,120) - - - - 3210
At 31 March 2016 R=E-RE=B=1+-8 9,273,560 20,487,125 10,748,910 318,126 1,029,300 (29574238 12,342,783

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash
\ / ;ﬁ%%

/\‘/T\ e E/EJ

ANEZR=1t—RLEFE CAETIE)

Flows

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=ZF—
Note 2016 —F—XF 2015 ZF—AHF
hEss HKS$#E T HK$ T
Operating activities REXEK
Profit before taxation bR 5 5174 A1) 329,315 3,243,839
Adjustments for: I FIEEL AL
— Share of loss of an associate — FE(hESE A RIAEIE 1,010 1,490
— Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets ~ — & BIERRIZ A FERE
at fair value through profit or loss HEREERNRNTE
&8 () 5 111,765 (514,020)
— Gain on disposal of financial assets — HEEBIERREATAE
at fair value through profit or loss RIS mEERRE 5 (35,030) (146,265)
— Interest income — F B UA 5 (21,648) (34,111)
— Equity-settled share-based payments — REEFURMDAERMNR  6(a) 1,029,300 =
— Depreciation — e 6(b) 149,801 136,722
— Provisions — B 6(b) 729,492 378,411
— Reversal of unused provisions — KRB AR o1 6(b) (487,749) (476,939)
— Write-off of inventories — FEMH 6(b) 128,688 31,365
Operating profit before changes in REBEESEBATNEEET
working capital 1,934,944 2,620,492
Increase in inventories FEH (18,562) (78,163)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other FEUNE 5 I HAth FE YRR FX
receivables A (38hn) 3,127,143 (4,095,595)
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other FERHE 5 I H At FEASHIR TN
payables w1 (1,955,761) 2,385,591
Cash generated from operations EBELERS 3,087,764 832,325
Tax paid, net BB OFE) (182,904) (62)
Net cash generated from operating REERELHSFE
activities 2,904,860 832,263
Investing activities REEE
Payment for purchase of property, SHEEME  BER&E
plant and equipment (73,921) (46,825)
Capital contribution for investment REEE N FHEE N ERIGEA
in an associate - (2,500)
Decrease/(increase) in non-pledged time — AEFHE BiLsHE5IE B #8318
deposits with maturity over three =& A IR IR E HER
months from date of deposits, net WA (8n) CFE) 656,073 (656,073)
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets BEBERRE AT ERIENS R
at fair value through profit or loss BE (Em),/ wd (255,395) 80,635
Repayment from an associate B N AIER 100,000 -
Loan made to an associate B E N RIER (200,000) (100,000)
Interest received BEUF B 21,648 34,111
Net cash generated from/(used in) REZTEELE (i) BEEE
investing activities 248,405 (690,652)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated

financial statements.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

S ATH AN =
IZ\\/T\ (=) Iﬁﬁ/}lbi%
BE_ZT—F=A=1+—RHLLFE L\BTIE)

Note 2016 = —RF 2015 —=—Hh%F
k=g HKS$E T HK$#E 7T
Financing activities REEE
Repurchase of shares [E18E AR 7 28(a)ii) (305,062) -
(Increase)/decrease in pledged bank BIRIFRI T (G8n), R
deposits, net CFE) (2,000,170) 2,018,503
Dividend paid in respect of previous year — F & 2 15 11 (2,322,120) (1,859,088)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BMEED (FfA), EXRETFE
financing activities (4,627,352) 159,415
Net (decrease)/increase in cash RERBSEEYEE
and cash equivalents Gm), #hn (1,474,087) 301,026
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April ROUA—BNBRERREESEEY 7,501,072 7,197,052
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes — JMNESFER S FR) & 94,335 2,994
Cash and cash equivalents R=EA=+t—HHRER
at 31 March REEEY 22 6,121,320 7,501,072

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R Rt

E-ERFZAST-ALEE CUETIIE)

48

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

1 General information 1 —REH
ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “company”) was incorporated in the ITE (Holdings) Limited ([ARR]]) AR SESEM
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability B ) —RKEHREER AR - Hak b E R Cricket
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The address Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands - R=F—7<
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. On 23 FRAZT=0 ARAAKAELEMNBRAAINEE
May 2016, the address of the principal place of business of the EEMBEOBBEANEST ILEATRBEREFR L
company and its operating subsidiaries was changed from Level 1028 E AEBNESILEATSHFEMRANEIECK
10, Park Building, 476 Castle Peak Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong DE
to Units C & D, 1st Floor, Por Yen Building, 478 Castle Peak Road,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.
The company’s shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market ARATMBRONRBEEBBERGMBERRA ([R5
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Fl) BIZR TS £ o
Exchange”).
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 HE—T—R"FZA=+—"HILFENZEVHER
March 2016 comprise the company and its subsidiaries (collectively 2%’@%$ AINHEMEBLAR (RARREBA R
referred to as the “group”). £H]) -
The company is an investment holding company. The principal RARAA—EREZERLR  AHNBARINFEEHE
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 33. B PAMIEE33 o

2  Significant accounting policies 2 FEGFHEXE

(@) Statement of compliance (a) AEREH
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in It E AR SRR T ARIR P E A B BB B g 5 2
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting QGRS - WS BRI EE Bt AGHEMOFT
Standards (“HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable BEANENEEMBRELD  BEGHEINR

individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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(a)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Statement of compliance (continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the group. Note 3 provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application
of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in the

consolidated financial statements.

A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the

group is set out below.

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements is the historical cost basis except as otherwise
stated in the significant accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), except where indicated otherwise, which is also

the functional currency of the company.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

2

(a)

(b)

iR RS R T aE

BE_Z-—R"FZA=+—HLFE CUETIIE)

FEGHEEK (&)
SRR ()

BREEHMAGEEME TH MRETNEBM
B|EARER - WHRA KBRS T B ERER
YA HIRERN - ME3RHEEERERAFBE
BATSIMM ST HREBNER - ERRNEMA
SENERE P BHMRAMRRRA S HHE R AR &
sHHEE -

AEBERBOERNSTBRMERIIWT -

A MBRRNOEREL

BT &S SR - A A B IS RE 1 A E S
A AR B -

BIERZEHRR - BAGRAMBRRG BT (A
ARENERER) WEMTIR -

PR B EMBRELINEAM B RS &
RKEBERAZERREANEE  BE - WAR
XM E2MSRIELHE - At REBR - BREMGE
RERBRERDBESELR  ARZEEIWLBERT
HEBAEMNEMEAEMEL  ARARBRER
BREEMERRRBTNEER B EOREELH
BrEOERE - BRAERAEA M BMTR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(b)

(o)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods

if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on these consolidated financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are

discussed in note 35.
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. The group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences
until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances and
transactions and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains

but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

In the company’s statement of financial position, investment in a
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(j)ii)).
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the company on
the basis of dividend received or receivable.

ITE (Holdings) Limited

2

(b)

(o)
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(d)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Associate

An associate is an entity in which the group or company has
significant influence, but not control or joint control, over its
management, including participation in the financial and operating

policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements under the equity method. Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for
any excess of the group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values
of the associate’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the
post acquisition change in the group’s share of the associate’s net
assets and any impairment loss relating to the investment (see
note 2(j)(ii). Any acquisition-date excess over costs, the group’s
share of the post-acquisition, post tax results of the associate and
any impairment losses for the year are recognised in profit or loss,
whereas the group’s share of post-acquisition post tax items of the
investees’ other comprehensive income is included in the group’s
other comprehensive income in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

When the group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the
associate, the group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate. For this purpose, the groups’ interest
in the associate is the carrying amount of the investment under
the equity method together with the group’s long-term interests
that in substance form part of the group’s net investment in the

associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between
the group and its associate are eliminated to the extent of the
group’s interest in the associate, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in
which case they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

2

(d)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z— X XF=A=+—HILFE B TINE)

2  Significant accounting policies (continued) 2 FEEFBUER (#)
(e)  Property, plant and equipment (e) W% BERRXE
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated M -~ BB KRR E R AR Rt E RO EEER
statement of financial position at cost less accumulated IRABBARRRIIE (REEE2G)G) °
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2())ii)).
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, ME - BERBREOITE @ RZERANR ST TS
plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, BE (WF)  EhstrERFHRRNRERED #aT
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as B FENAERFHOT
follows:
— Leasehold improvements ~ Over the shorter of the lease terms —HEMEEE UL Sk iH S5 HY
and 4 years (AR EE BE)
— Furniture and fixtures 4 years —RRREE e
— Computer and other 4 years — B REAMRE me
equipment
The useful life of an asset, its depreciation method and residual BEMAEHAEE  HIrE D ARFISEE (F)
value, if any, are reviewed annually. HEFEDRE -
Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item M BEREEREIDENREIELEMS
of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference RIBFR B E IREERENER - WHRIR
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the &k HE & HRERY
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement
or disposal.
(f)  Inventories () #=E

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable

value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out cost formula and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the

estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Inventories (continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the

reversal ocCcurs.
Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value
and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see note
2(j)(i), except where the receivables are interest-free loans made
to related parties without any fixed repayment terms or the effect
of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables

are stated at cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.
Service contracts

When the outcome of a service contract can be estimated reliably,
contract costs are recognised as an expense by reference to the
stage of completion of the contract at the end of the reporting
period. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed
total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an
expense immediately. When the outcome of a service contract
cannot be estimated reliably, contract costs are recognised as an

expense in the period in which they are incurred.

2
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(9)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

VA=A
w3
For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE—

(h)

(i)

)

(i)

B RR MR

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Service contracts (continued)

Service contracts in progress at the end of the reporting period
are recorded at the net amount of costs incurred plus recognised
profits less recognised losses and progress billings, and are
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position
as the “Gross amount due from customers for service contract
work” (as an asset) or the “Gross amount due to customers
for service contract work” (as a liability), as when applicable.
Progress billings not yet paid by the customers are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under “Trade and
other receivables”. Amounts received before the related work is
performed are included in the consolidated statement of financial

position under “Trade and other payables”.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are either
investments classified as held for trading or designated as at
fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. These
investments are subsequently measured at fair value. Gains or
losses arising from changes in fair value of these investments are

recognised in profit or loss.
Impairment of assets
Impairment of receivables

Receivables (including amounts due from related parties) that are
stated at cost or amortised cost are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be

recoverable.

If any event or change in circumstances indicates that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable, an impairment loss is determined

and recognised as follows:

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR RS R T aE

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—Z—XF=A=+—HIFE CLETIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of assets (continued)
Impairment of receivables (continued)

- For trade and other receivables carried at cost or at
amortised cost, the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e.
the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition of
these assets), where the effect of discounting is material.
This assessment is made collectively where financial assets
carried at amortised cost share similar risk characteristics,
such as similar past due status, and have not been
individually assessed as impaired. Future cash flows
for financial assets which are assessed for impairment
collectively are based on historical loss experience for

assets with credit risk characteristics similar to the collective
group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised, the impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in
the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years.

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding assets
directly, except for impairment losses recognised in respect of trade
receivables, whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote.
In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts are recorded
using an allowance account. When the group is satisfied that
recovery is remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is written
off against trade receivables directly and any amounts held in the
allowance account relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously charged to the allowance account
are reversed against the allowance account. Other changes in
the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off directly are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-Z—XE=A=+—BI-FE (AETIIE)

2  Significant accounting policies (continued) 2 FEEFBUER (#)

()  Impairment of assets (continued) () EEREGE)

(ii) Impairment of other assets (ii) HEihEERE
Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at AEAINREE BERIRS AT — [EHR S HAARERH -
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that LAHEE THIEE (BB EERIN) B4 HIREED
the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of R HRUAEROBESETNEFERE LR
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer A

exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment; - M BB R

- goodwill; - Bk

- investment in an associate; and = REERFRKRE « &

- investment in a subsidiary in the company’s statement of - RAERBMBRARF OB LD REIRE

financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is MRFEREMBETR  EENAKESBESE

estimated. In addition, for goodwill, the recoverable amount HETE o bboh - BB NMEEM AR - MEFRE

is estimated annually whether or not there is any indication of EEEEMBRESRME TG SREELERT

impairment. fl

- Calculation of recoverable amount = STE A E SR
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of BEMAREBSEREAFEREELE
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In RARFEREB - EHEREER - B
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are HAKREMNEGEREFTISHEBR
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount B & & E R E R b 5T (A R B ATRL IR &
rate that reflects current market assessments of time value MR EHRE - MREEMEENRESR
of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where an ABERTREBUNEMEEMEENR S
asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent WA AU BLELERESRANZND
of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is —HEEREEAKEEE (AREELSE
determined for the smallest group of assets that generates fir) »

cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR RS R T aE

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—Z—XF=A=+—HIFE CLETIIE)

2  Significant accounting policies (continued) 2 FEEFEHE (&)

()  Impairment of assets (continued) () EERE E)

(i) Impairment of other assets (continued) (i) Hib&EERE (&)
Recognition of impairment losses - ERREEE
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the BEBER-—HEEXEMBREELR
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit iz & R TE {EL76R 280 HL AJ U5 [B] & #E BSF 72 18 2 T
to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. RepREeELEMBRNBNESE &
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating ENBUREKENEBERSCELS
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount iz (sk—#AE M) MEAEENIREE A
of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (or IR PIRE A (Sk— 4 E M) NEAM
group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount EEMEDE TS REEEIREE
of the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro ZENE@ER A FERE SR C&RIE
rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will 2) HFEREE CBARE) -
not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), or value in use (if determinable).
Reversals of impairment losses — R (B & 18 [o] 4
In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment & B ABEEWE BEHAMEEEFR
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in i BFEeHBRESBERE FEGEN
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. REBBIL T/ -
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.
A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s PO REEBRRNZEENBEFE
carrying amount that would have been determined had no WA R BRI ERTMIREE © FF
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals B E R EEENERR B FES AlEE -
of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the
year in which the reversals are recognised.

(k) Income tax (k) FTEH

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in REEMGHEEARREREEHBEERAR

MES -  AEBAMEEHREENABENESHN

deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in

deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss EE=ER 1E| E@E&ﬁ%ﬂ F:E@%EW/_\@;%*
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other HEMEEE - Ao plER AR M2 mE R ER

comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive

income or equity, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(k)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in

respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from

unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from
the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the
same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the
deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit
can be utilised.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent
that, in the case of taxable differences, the group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the

future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction
is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
company or the group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(k)

(1

(m)

BE_T—

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the group or
the company intends either to settle on a net basis, or to

realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation

authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets

and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis

or realise and settle simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured in accordance
with note 2(o)(i), trade and other payables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be

immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e.
the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of the
guarantee (being the transaction price, unless the fair value can
otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially recognised as deferred
income within trade and other payables. Where consideration
is received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognised in accordance with the group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense is recognised in

profit or loss on initial recognition of any deferred income.
Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

.
SRy

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE—

(o)

(ii)

(p)

B RR MR

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities (continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates

ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated into HK$ at the
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the transactions. Items of statement of financial
position, are translated into HK$ at the closing foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange

reserve.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition

Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured

reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or loss as follows:
Service revenue

Service revenue comprises revenue from smartcard systems, radio
frequency identification (“RFID”), information technology (“IT")

and related service contracts.

Revenue from a fixed price service contract is recognised using the
percentage of completion method, measured by reference to the
percentage of contract costs incurred to date to estimated total
contract costs for the contract. When the outcome of a service
contract cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only
to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be
recoverable.

Other services income is recognised when the relevant services are

provided.
Consultancy income

Consultancy income is recognised when the consultancy services

are rendered.
Income from maintenance services

Income from maintenance services is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the term of the maintenance service contracts.

Income received or receivable in respect of services which have
not been completed on or before the end of the reporting period
are shown in the consolidated statement of financial position as
deferred maintenance income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB HmRM

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

'_\_|
A7

(a)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(r)

0)

(ii)

BE_T—

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when the goods are delivered at the
customers’ premises which is taken to be the point in time when
the customer has accepted the goods and the related risks and
rewards of ownership. Revenue excludes value-added tax or other

sales taxes, if any, and is after deduction of any trade discounts.
Dividend income

Dividend income from listed investments is recognised when the

share price of the investment goes ex-dividend.
Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-
monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement
is deferred and the effect would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the
group demonstrably commits itself to terminate employment or
to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by having
a detailed formal plan which is without realistic possibility of

withdrawal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
Equity-settled share-based payments

For share options granted under the 2011 Scheme per note 27,
the fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised
as an employee cost with a corresponding increase in a share
option reserve within equity. The fair value is measured at grant
date using the binomial option pricing model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.
Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread over the vesting
period, taking into account the probability that the options will

vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited
to the profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the original
employee expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve. On vesting
date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of options that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the share option reserve) except where forfeiture
is only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to
the market price of the company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the share option reserve until either the options is
exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium account)
or the options expires (when it is released directly to accumulated
losses).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB HmRM

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

'_\_|
A7

(t)

(u)

BE_T—

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Research and development costs

Expenditure on research and development activities is expensed in
profit or loss in the year in which it is incurred.

Operating lease charges

Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards

of ownership to the group are classified as operating leases.

Where the group has the use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to profit
or loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered
by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the

leased asset.
Related parties

(i) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is

related to the group if that person:

(@) has control or joint control over the group;
(b) has significant influence over the group; or
(0 is a member of the key management personnel of

the group or the group’s parent.

ITE (Holdings) Limited

2

(s)

(t)

(u)

TESTHBER (#)
s A A

MBERIDNEFAELERERRBRARMX -

HEHESH

REMEREEEMARORIN AR K EHREH

F«:\

Eiiﬁ% REEMHEE

MAEERAKEHERFSEENEARE  HAEE

M HREERERMRENSTHME  REBEET

IAEREMG - A EEERE SRR EEE

BEMEENRER IR o

BEAL

() ETHNBERT  —BALHEARENER
SEAME

(a) BB A I R

(b) HAKEBEEATEN R

(c) RARESIAEEF AR T
AB -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR RS R T aE

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—Z—XF=A=+—HIFE CLETIIE)

2  Significant accounting policies (continued)

(u) Related parties (continued)

(i) An entity is related to the group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(a)

(b)

(e)

)

(9)

The entity and the group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary

and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the group or an
entity related to the group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (i).

A person identified in (i)(a) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of the group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the group or to the group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,

that person in their dealings with the entity.

TEREHEER (&)
BEAL (&)
() HATIEHERERAEEERE -
(@) %E%ﬁﬁ%lﬁﬂ BN A
AR (BHEBAF - WEBRARR
%W%ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁ@ ) o
(b) HE-—FABHHBEAARAE
BOE (REF—HARRERE
ARMBEAARALLE TR

— I REKERT) -

(© ENERA—F=TNEERE -

@ BEBDAREEREARBEH
0 7 B8 61 U B AR T RO IR AU
5t -

(f) ZE B R PTBEBI A 1% 6

(9) (Na)BRFTBERIMALEHERES
AREENXBZER (AZBEREEY
DA FEEBABMHAL -

(h) AAREENSARREIZEEA
BRGHEENEHEREMERE
EERK B R A

BRAALTHARRGKERENEEERR L
FALTHEZALTHENZERIEKE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

VA=A
w3
For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE—

B RR MR

T-REZA=T-HLFE NETIIE)

2  Significant accounting policies (continued) 2 FEEFBUER (#)
(v)  Segment reporting (v) EPERE
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item EIE D ELA R AR A B ISR A PR S e & E 5 5P 1R
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified SR HREHRASESESRNTRERER
from the financial information provided regularly to the group’s AEEERTAREBE S EBER KR KT ARER
most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating MR8 B %5 & B R o
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.
Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for BT BRER  ARmMEsBERNIBHISEG
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar THE  BRIED VB FRBARLL - AR E & &R
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature Mg EERFME  FRLEBERER - %ﬁéuu
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the SIRHEREAAMN S EREEREAMEERM -
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the YERIER - ZPMERITM S TERL L HEL - ZZDST% E
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory PIA/E L REBHAER] - AR gE & Pt E -
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.
3  Changes in accounting policies 3 BIBXREH
The HKICPA has issued the following amendments to HKFRSs that SETAIAEEM T NI RS ERNSET
are first effective for the current accounting period of the group: E’:\$%@E’\J$% FTHIME IR AR ¢
3 Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to & BAMBRE BAMERELER
HKFRSs 2010-2012 cycle AERANEET A T E-T——F
BERF E BUE
3 Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to 3 BAMBRE BAMBERELER
HKFRSs 2011-2013 cycle LRANEET A —T—— T —=F
BEREF E BUE

The adopted of aforesaid amendments to HKFRSs has had no
material effect on the consolidated financial statements in the
current or prior accounting periods.

The group has not applied any new or revised HKFRSs that is not
yet effective for the current accounting period (see note 36).

SRR FTE R B E A 2T
w~%m¢@#¢ﬂ&
S ERAL I EAYE -

BRI B B SR %
SHHAR B AN = B B4R A B

AEBEANSTHRRARRERNAFREEEMER
LB BT BRE LR RaE (RIEE36) -
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iR RS R T aE

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—Z—XF=A=+—HIFE CLETIIE)

4  Turnover 4 EEH
Turnover represents the net sales value of goods supplied to EETBRELER TEPNE X RIBEHREHNF
customers and turnover from services rendered. The amount of W - FARRAEXEENTESBERENT ¢

each significant category of revenue recognised in turnover during
the year is as follows:

2016 —ZE—XRF 2015 —Z—AF

HKS$E T HK$E 7T
Provision of smartcard systems, RHEERES - §TEHERI R
RFID and IT services BB AR
— Service revenue — RS 10,856,436 15,093,238
— Income from maintenance services — RERBEIA 11,943,838 11,586,449
— Sales of service related products — $HE RIS IERAE M 461,833 655,264
23,262,107 27,334,951
Consultancy income ZAGETEI N 907,199 2,060,255
24,169,306 29,395,206

5 Other income and other (losses)/gains, net 5 HiWAREMT (FE) WE

2016 —ZE—RHF 2015 —Z—HF

HK$%E T HK$#7T
Other income Hig A
Interest income FBEWA 21,648 34,111
Dividend income from listed securities EEHFRELA 56,497 21,747
Government sponsorship income ERATEE BH UM 225,793 120,000
Facility supporting income B EWA 319,800 =
Sundry income Ha A 17,439 28,573
641,177 204,431
Other (losses)/gains, net HiF (551]) ki
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets BRERRE AT ERENEE
at fair value through profit or loss BEMNATE (BB), e (111,765) 514,020
Gain on disposal of financial assets HEBBERIRERA T ERIERN
at fair value through profit or loss TRIEEWE 35,030 146,265
(76,735) 660,285
564,442 864,716
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A

B ERRMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6

Profit before taxation

HE—

6

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

T-REZA=T-HLFE NETIIE)

BREE AR F

BBADERIE MR (GEA)

2016 —F—XF 2015 ZF—AHF
HKS$# T HK$Z T
(a) Staff costs (including directors’ (a) BIRA (BIEFE
remuneration) *: <) #
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMEF 13,037,189 12,890,490
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEI R (BE26)
(note 26) 509,176 521,326
Equity-settled share-based payments R AR S AR 1D A it
(note 27) Rk (faE27) 1,029,300 -
14,575,665 13,411,816
(b) Other items: (b) HMIEE -
Auditor’s remuneration 2 Gl ea 358,000 348,000
Cost of inventories sold ## B Rk A 3,350,041 7,263,290
Depreciation e 149,801 136,722
Development costs LD FIN 918,377 536,550
Exchange loss, net & 5 B8 %A 199,630 11,584
Provisions (note 24) s (fiaE24) 729,492 378,411
Operating lease charges: KERES W
minimum lease payments KRB ERIE
— hire of properties — Y)EEE 1,281,668 1,219,584
— hire of office equipment — QRRERE 48,120 48,156
Reversal of unused provisions 7R B) F B8 15 [0 43
(note 24) (Mi5E24) (487,749) (476,939)
Write-off of inventories FEMH 128,688 31,365
# Staff costs included HK$761,395 (2015: HK$500,478) relating to g B T ABIE761,3958 (% — A F:
development costs, which amount is also disclosed separately in note 500,478/’57E) R - S EFHER AN
6(b). FE6(b) B HFE -
## Cost of goods sold included HK$128,688 (2015: HK$31,365) relating i EMEEXABIE128,6888 L (ZT—AF:

to write-off of inventories, which amount is also disclosed separately in

note 6(b).

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR RS R T aE

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—Z—XF=A=+—HIFE CLETIIE)

Income tax

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income represents:

rBH
HmEBEEREMZERSERNASHENR
=

2016 —ZF—RF 2015 —ZE—FF

HK$ % T HK$ETT
Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax B{THIIE — HBFAER
Provision for the year FEHE 25,825 _
Qver provision in respect of prior years EF BRI (25,825) -

The group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which subsidiaries
within the group are domiciled and operated.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, provision for Hong Kong
Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit
for the year. During the year ended 31 March 2015, no provision
for Hong Kong Profits Tax was made as the group did not have
any assessable profit for taxation purposes in Hong Kong.

No provision for income tax in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC") and Macao have been made as the group did not have
any assessable profit for taxation purpose in the PRC or Macao
during the year ended 31 March 2016 (2015: HK$Nil).

AEBMERTORFTIE - DRIBAEENE R A
BEW T ORITIHRGIFE -

BE_Z-—R"E-A=+—"BILFE BEREH
TEANAFEEFIZI65%MEANE - BHE-T—
hAE=ZA=1T—RLLFE AKELEEFEMEH
BRI R - B EE B HEAE

AEBRFANALBEFEARLME ([HE)) KR
FIAlRHER SR - M E—T—RF=ZA=1+—H
I FEYERESRPIERTEE (TR %F
&) -

ANNUAL REPORT 2015-2016 F3&

71




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-Z—XE=A=+—BI-FE (AETIIE)

7  Income tax (continued) 7 RSB (&)
(b) Reconciliation between income tax and accounting (b) IRFIEHKREFHEFNMNERER WAL
profit at applicable tax rate: mT
2016 —ZE— < F 2015 —E—HF
HKS$# 7T HK$E7T
Profit before taxation R Tt BT 2 A 329,315 3,243,839
Notional tax on profit before taxation, ﬁ%%}%ﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁ%ﬁ&)‘ﬁw 5% 3
calculated at the applicable tax rate of A& TIE
16.5% 54,336 535,233
Tax effect of different tax rates on M8 A Rl &t B R TR A
subsidiaries operating in other W2 (M)
jurisdictions (note) (79,717) (92,149)
Tax effect of share of loss of an associate JE(G SN B B IR TR A 2 167 246
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TAHRE AN G2 344,542 233,943
Tax effect of non-taxable income BEFHBMANTRETE (160,059) (262,105)
Tax effect of prior year's tax losses utilised &) 2 E 75 EEB AT 155/ 2 (225,246) (655,431)
Tax effect of temporary differences RERN LR ZENT B2
not recognised 8,171 8,600
Tax effect of unused tax losses RERMAKRE AR BEEERN
not recognised M2 83,631 231,663
Over provision in respect of prior years FF B (25,825) -
Income tax PS5 = =
Note: MHEE -
The applicable tax rate of the company and those subsidiaries that are ARARRERBEBAMAOMBRANBEARER16.5%
incorporated in Hong Kong is 16.5% (2015: 16.5%). The applicable tax rates of (ZZ—HF :165%)  MEFEHFTMAOME QT A E
the subsidiaries of the company incorporated outside Hong Kong are as follows: AFRENT -
i. ITE (China) Limited is subjected to tax rate of 25% (2015: 25%). i. EBMYEEERGFERDANRER25% (=
Z—FR%F :25%)
ii. ITE Sistema (Macau) Limitada is subject to a progressive tax rate from i. BEZRGCRM) AERADMBER R A3%E
3% t0 12% (2015: 3% to 12%). 12% (ZFB—H% : 3%E12%) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR RS R T aE

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—Z—XF=A=+—HIFE CLETIIE)

Directors’ remuneration 8 E=E=M<E
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing BB AR LT8R A R BB D RE G 383 16- 5 &
Rules and section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is WEZMEFROT
as follows:
2016 —E—RE
Salaries, Equity-
allowances  Retirement settled
Directors’  and benefits scheme share-based
fees in kind  contributions Sub-total payments Total
Fe RELE
2ER BRGTE R 5
ESMe BNRE HEA ezt ERAR CH
HK$E T HKSE T HK$# T HKSE T HKS$# T HK$# T
Executive directors PIEF
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent EE Y 230,000 1,259,820 18,000 1,507,820 - 1,507,820
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung il g 230,000 348,450 15,913 594,363 - 594,363
Mr. George Roger Manho BRIEEE 50,000 - - 50,000 - 50,000
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah ey 50,000 - - 50,000 - 50,000
560,000 1,608,270 33,913 2,202,183 - 2,202,183
Independent non-executive directors BV ERTES
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen ZEREL 120,000 - - 120,000 84,600 204,600
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony RMZEE 50,000 - - 50,000 84,600 134,600
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew BRBERAE 50,000 - - 50,000 84,600 134,600
220,000 - - 220,000 253,800 473,800
Total Bt 780,000 1,608,270 33,913 2,422,183 253,800 2,675,983
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ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-Z—XE=A=+—BI-FE (AETIIE)

8 Directors’ remuneration (continued) 8 EEMe ()
2015 —E-RE
Salaries, Equity-
allowances Retirement settled
Directors' and benefits scheme share-based
fees inkind  contributions Sub-total payments Total
5 RiERE
2R BARETE UBRAA
LR ENfla 3 T ERER At
HK$& T HK$#TT HK$/BTT HK$IB T HK$A T HK$E T
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent AEres 230,000 989,820 17,500 1,237,320 - 1,237,320
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung il 230,000 377,062 16,667 623,729 - 623,729
Mr. George Roger Manho eyt 50,000 - - 50,000 - 50,000
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah Fil sy e 50,000 - - 50,000 - 50,000
560,000 1,366,882 34,167 1,961,049 = 1,961,049
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen ZERELT 120,000 - - 120,000 - 120,000
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony BERAE 50,000 = = 50,000 = 50,000
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew ERRRE 50,000 = = 50,000 = 50,000
220,000 - - 220,000 - 220,000
Total At 780,000 1,366,882 34,167 2,181,049 - 2,181,049
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

9 Individuals with highest emoluments 9

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2015:
two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8. The
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other three (2015:
three) individuals are as follows:

iR RS R T aE

BE_Z-—R"FZA=+—HLFE CUETIIE)

REHAL

RANZREHFALT B (ZF—0F : W)
REF  RENMESSENHES  Hf=M (=F
—HEF  Zf) KeFATOMESLENT

2016 —ZE—XRHF 2015 —Z—HF

HK$#E T HK$Z 7T

Salaries and other emoluments HENEMBE 1,714,693 1,686,743
Retirement scheme contributions RIREF IR 54,000 52,500
Equity-settled share-based payments A8 4 B LARR 15 B ERE TR 258,500 2
2,027,193 1,739,243

The emoluments of the three (2015: three) individuals with the

highest emoluments are within the following band:

= (ZE-RF: =) REHFALTHMENTF
THIEHE :

2016 —Z—K<fF 2015 —ZE—AF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
ATHEHE ATHE
HKS$Nil — HK$ 1,000,000 /87T — 1,000,000/ 7T 3 3
10 Other comprehensive income 10 HMZ2EWA
Tax effects relating to each component of other comprehensive BHEAMEZEBANTEZENT
income:
2016 —ZE—~F 2015 —F—H%F
Before tax Tax  Net-of-tax Before tax Tax Net-of-tax
amount expense amount amount expense amount
BREAI S PEXE BRAEEEE KBIHASE BEZE  REEeE
HKS$# T HK$7% 7T HKS#B T HK$ 7T HK$ 7T HK$&TT
Exchange differences on TEINETE Y
translation of foreign MmHEER
operations 94,024 - 94,024 2,994 2 2,994
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BB HmRM

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE=Z— X XF=A=+—HILFE B TINE)
Dividends 11 BRE
2016 —F—XF 2015 ZF—HF
HK$E T HK$E T
Proposed final dividend EaoRHR S
— HK$Nil cents — SREmERTAEN
(2015: HK$0.25 cents) per ordinary share ~ (ZZE—F4F : 0.25/1l) = 2,323,860

12

Final dividend of HK$0.25 cents per share in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2015 was approved by the shareholders of the
company on 10 August 2015.

The board of directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2016.

Earnings per share 12

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit
attributable to owners of the company of HK$329,315 (2015:
HK$3,243,839) and the weighted average of 928,663,945 (2015:
929,544,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year, calculated

as follows:

W=E—RENATARAHRTAFAR - BE
HEBE-F-B4=A=t—HILEEMN25H
IRERRE, »

BE—ZT-—A"E-A=-1+-—RALEE BESUTE
FIRBEEARE -

BRER

BREARF IR A RHEAR AEGEFZ29,315
BIL(ZE—FRF : 3,243,839 L) REANE T
T 38 A% K H04E F 19 AR $1028,663,945 (=T —
F £ 929,544,0008%) * sTEWT -

2016 —F—XKF 2015 —=—Hh%F
Issued ordinary shares at 1 April REA—H E’]E?;’?TT R 929,544,000 929,544,000
Effect of repurchase of shares ElliEdb g n)==
(note 28 (a)(ii)) (B 5E28(a) (i) (880,055) -
Weighted average number of =A=+—BfEER
ordinary shares at 31 March INEFHE 928,663,945 929,544,000
As the company does not have any potential dilutive ordinary HE-ZT—ARAEKZZE—AF=-HA=+—HILEFEL

shares during the year ended 31 March 2016 and 2015, basic and
diluted earnings per share are the same.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR RS R T aE

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—Z—XF=A=+—HIFE CLETIIE)

Segment reporting
Operating segment information

The group conducts its business within one business segment,
smartcard systems, RFID, IT services and related services. All of the
group’s products and services are of a similar nature and subject
to similar risk and returns. Following the business operation review
with effect from 1 April 2015, for management purpose, the
management does not review the performance of the business in
smartcard systems, RFID and IT services, and related consultancy
services separately as the segment of provision for consultancy
services has continued to be downsized. Accordingly, the group’s
operating activities are attributable to a single operating segment,
such changes have been restated for comparative amounts in prior

year.
Geographical information

The group’s operations are principally located in Hong Kong,
Macao and the PRC.

The group’s revenue from external customers and information

about its non-current assets by geographical location are detailed

13 DHEWRE
() HEHTEHR

AEBNEERE—BEEEDE - DEERREL
ST8ER B I B A B R IR B A KA AR TS - PR AN
B EmkRBEEERUEE B EER - R
REREN  R-Z-—LFNA-BEMNERE
BRI E - ARERRB S ESERS  HEREL
REIFHERERRS - G780 & AR B RS
KERRHRER - Bl - AEENKZEHRE
B-2ENH  HWEREBEAFOLEEE SN
B o

=

(b) HbiFE R

AEET2HEEFE  RFIARPELEER -

REEREINE P U R IERE E E R b1 5 FB 40
™

below:
Revenue from external customers Non-current assets
HIEF R FERBEE
2016 —ZF— R 2015 _F—HF 2016 —ZF— R 2015 _F—HF
HKS$E T HK$BT HK$E T HKS$BTT
Hong Kong B 19,300,674 21,238,211 115,432 195,835
Macao P 4,868,632 8,156,995 3,473 3,500
PRC h - - 6,208 1,969
24,169,306 29,395,206 125,113 201,304
Information about major customers (0 FEHEIBREFEH

For the year ended 31 March 2016, there were three (2015:
three) customers who accounted for over 10% of total revenue
of the group with aggregate amount of HK$8,712,512 (2015:
HK$11,665,957).

HE-T—"F=ZRA=1+—ALEFE = (=%
—RF: =) BRFRFEAEENBUEEIB
10%  ZEXTERX PN R8,712,512% 7T (=
T—FHF : 11,665,95787C) °
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ARe ISR

IR2NN =

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-Z—XE=A=+—BI-FE (AETIIE)

14 Property, plant and equipment

14 Y% - BERKE

Computer
Leasehold Furniture and other
improvements and fixtures equipment Total
HEMEEE BRREE SKRHEMRHE &t
HK$A 7T HK$A T HK$A T HK$B 7T
Cost: AR
At 1 April 2014 ~ZE—FMA—H 416,800 336,091 835,911 1,588,802
Additions NE - - 46,825 46,825
Disposals HE - - (60,860) (60,860)
At 31 March 2015 and R-ZZE—RF=A=+—H
1 April 2015 k—_ZE—HFMNA—H 416,800 336,091 821,876 1,574,767
Additions NE = 1,160 72,761 73,921
Exchange realignment PE 1 R - - (2,658) (2,658)
At 31 March 2016 RZE—R"F=A=1+—H 416,800 337,251 891,979 1,646,030
Accumulated depreciation: Z5HE
At 1 April 2014 “ZE—FMPA—H 186,228 336,091 775,282 1,297,601
Charge for the year FRNE 106,416 - 30,306 136,722
Eliminated on disposals HER T Y = = (60,860) (60,860)
At 31 March 2015 and R-E—RF=A=+—H
1 April 2015 MZE—RFMA—H 292,644 336,091 744,728 1,373,463
Charge for the year FAME 106,416 48 43,337 149,801
Exchange realignment PE 5 R - - (2,347) (2,347)
At 31 March 2016 R-ZE—R"F=A=+—H 399,060 336,139 785,718 1,520,917
Carrying amount: IREE :
At 31 March 2016 R-T—R"F=A=+—H 17,740 1,112 106,261 125,113
At 31 March 2015 RN—E—RE=A=1+—H 124,156 - 77,148 201,304
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iR RS R T aE

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—Z—XF=A=+—HIFE CLETIIE)

15 Interest in an associate 15 HBEAQTER

2016 —ZF—<F 2015 —Z—HF

HK$E 7t HK$B 7T
Unlisted investment, at cost FEETRE (A) 2,500 2,500
Accumulated share of loss FE(E REHEE (2,500) (1,490)
- 1,010
Particulars of the group’s associate at 31 March 2016 and 2015 RIE-—RERZZT-—RF=A=+—H8  KEH
are as follows: REE AR ERMT ¢
Place of
incorporation/
registration and Percentage of equity
Name operations attributable to the group Principal activities
B3 R REBFTAE
=L BB R e FEER
Indirect
LiEE=
2016 2015
=B-RE —T-AF
Precision Instrument and Hong Kong 25% 25% Provision of custom-developed
Optics Limited &5 high-end laser scanning microscopes
IEARHRBR AT B = R A AE L PSR ST 4R B B 1R

Py

i3
>

oy

St

ARZZE—WFENACAKY @ WBBAR
TETARIEE -

The associate was incorporated on 7 August 2014 and is held by a

el
=

]

subsidiary of the company.
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ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-Z—XE=A=+—BI-FE (AETIIE)

15 Interest in an associate (continued) 15 BEQTER (&)
Summarised financial information in respect of the group’s unlisted AEENFELTHERFTNMBEREOT

associate is as follows:

Precision Instrument and Optics Limited AR BRAA

2016 —ZE—RF 2015 —Z—FF

HK$7#% 7T HK$& T
Current assets REhEE 76,736 272,258
Current liabilities mEEE 230,252 268,219
Net (liabilities)/assets (8l BEFE (153,516) 4,039
Revenue Wizs - =
Loss and total comprehensive expense EEEEMEESYHEE 157,555 5,961
Shared by the group: REEFEL -
Loss and total comprehensive expense (note) E518 M EH 2 E HA () 1,010 1,490
Net assets BEFE - 1,010
Note:  The group has only recognised a share of loss of the associate for the Mizt: AKEBERFARRBEGEEEIF10108T X
year limited to HK$1,010 as the interest in this associate was reduced EHERNRREET  MEANRERAEGEER
to zero. The unrecognised share of losses for the year is HK$38,379 38,3794 (ZE—AhF : THET) °

(2015: HK$Nil).

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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iR RS R T aE

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—Z—XF=A=+—HIFE CLETIIE)

16 Goodwill 16 B2
HK$# 7T
Cost 5%
At 1 April 2014, 31 March 2015, RZZT—MUFEMA—H -
1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016 —T-HF=A=+—H"
“E-RFMA-AR
—ZE-RF=A=+—H 9,507,923
Accumulated amortisation e
At 1 April 2014, 31 March 2015, R-_T—mEMA—A
1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016 —T—HF=A=+—H "
—E-hFMA-HRK
—ZT—R"F=A=+—H 3,169,307
Accumulated impairment loss 2EREESE
At 1 April 2014, 31 March 2015, R-T—mEmM/—A
1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016 —E-hF=A=+—H"
—E-RFMA—HBHRK
—E—RF=A=1+—H 6,338,616
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 March 2016 R-ZE—RE=A=+—H =
At 31 March 2015 R-E—FE=A=+—¢ B
. Fi=]
17 Inventories 17 ®E&

2016 —ZF—XRF 2015 —E—HF

HK$#E T HK$Z 7T

Raw materials ERE 695,453 589,250
Work in progress ERG 248,307 238,220
Finished goods RUAK TR 178,936 405,352
1,122,696 1,232,822
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ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-Z—XE=A=+—BI-FE (AETIIE)

18 Trade and other receivables 18 EWEZ Kk HAEWIIRK
2016 —ZE—~F 2015 —E—AF
HKS$# T HK$E T
Trade receivables FEWE FIRIX 1,738,112 3,796,101
Other receivables A IR 3R 892,624 730,389
Gross amount due from customers for BB P HREEL
service contract work (note 25) TREsE@EE (fisE25) 2,036,423 2,055,165
Retention money receivables EWIRE & 34,536 -
Deposits and prepayments e RBHNER 1,482,827 2,730,010
6,184,522 9,311,665
All of the trade and other receivables, apart from certain deposits ¥ /2 #0256,0078 7 (T —H4F :378,612) 5T
of HK$256,007 (2015: HK$378,612) are expected to be recovered HET2I AEENERKE S & EIKIR
or recognised as expenses within one year. HIEHR—FAR KO ERAER -

(@) An ageing analysis of trade receivables as at the (a) REZRZHET RESHREKES
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice RARNIRE DA T
date, is as follows:

2016 —E—RF 2015 —Z—FF

HK$E 7T HK$# 7T
Less than 1 month DIR—1{E R 1,264,594 3,049,634
More than 1 month but less than 3 months @ —1{& BB LR =1EH 473,518 709,177
More than 3 months but less than 1 year BR=EAERIR—F - 37,290
1,738,112 3,796,101
Trade receivables are generally due within 30 to 60 days (2015: 30 FEWE SR KB RIERBE30KREOKR (ZT—H
to 45 days) from the date of billing. Further details on the group’s F : 30RE45K) AR H - FFIBERMITE29(a) A&

credit policy are set out in note 29(a). EHNEERE -
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iR RS R T aE

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—Z—XF=A=+—HIFE CLETIIE)

18 Trade and other receivables (continued) 18 EWEZREMEWIIKRI (&)

(b) The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are (b) RIWEHREWE ZIRRILLE M

neither individually nor collectively considered to 2EZRBENIRE AW T
be impaired as at the end of the reporting period is
as follows:

2016 —ZE—RHF 2015 —&Z—HF

HK$E 7T HK$# 7T
Neither past due nor impaired W I EA TR AR RE 1,006,878 1,764,192
Less than 1 month past due AR —1{E A 418,138 1,550,428
More than 1 month but BE—EAE=EA
less than 3 months past due 313,096 444,191
More than 3 months but wERREB = A A B DR —F
less than 1 year past due - 37,290
Amounts past due SR 731,234 2,031,909
1,738,112 3,796,101
()  Trade receivables that are not impaired (o) RERENEIWEFIRMR
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a FEWIRRCE B @SR ER RSB HEFEEIERT
wide range of customers for whom there was no recent history of 8% o
default.
Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a ERHERIRRERERENBEUEFERNERE
number of independent customers that have a good track record Rifsisr - IRIBALKSR  BREMGELSEERY
with the group. Based on past experience, management believes EEEREE NBL KR A IE R 2 HUk e AT A
that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these REELREER NERRZBEFALSEHREMN
balances as there has not been a significant change in credit M B =R Y -

quality and the balances are considered fully recoverable. The
group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

ANNUAL REPORT 2015-2016 &% 83




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Zl_\_!

A

19

20

21

(@)

BB HmRM

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_T—

Loans to an associate 19

Loans to an associate are unsecured, interest-bearing at 2% per
annum (2015: 2% per annum) and repayable within 6 months
from the respective dates of grant.

Financial assets at fair value through profit 20
or loss

NEZA=Z+T—HLLFE NETIIE)

BERNTRER

B N B E SR BT - AFFIE2% (77 kil
F: i?’k@ %) st E WA H B AN E

s
=}

8

=

Al

R

ERERRELAFERENEH
EE

2016 —Z—XF 2015 ZZE—HF
HK$# T HK$E7T

Listed securities — held-for-trading LFTES - FHEER
— Equity securities in Hong Kong — BARERE S 1,764,630 1,585,970
Market value of listed securities EEENTISER 1,764,630 1,585,970

The fair value of all equity securities is based on their current bid

prices in an active market.

There has been no significant decline in their fair value below
cost and adverse changes in the market value of listed equity
investments during the year. The directors of the company
considered that no impairment indication has been noted on the
listed equity investments.

Income tax (recoverable)/payable 21

Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (a)
financial position represents:

FAEREZESNATFEGEREBRMIZHRE S
BB -

FR - LTRARENAFEDREEATHRER

PR RIS TR - AR AEER
BRAEARSER LTESRAANENEE -

(ATE), BB S5

REMBIRRRIFTEHIA -

2016 —Z—KF 2015 —Z=—Hh%F

HK$# T HK$# 7T

Provision for the year FRRE 25,825 =

Provisional profits tax paid BERFET B (184,737) (2,107)
Balance of profits tax provision WA FERSHEESR

relating to prior years - 26,099

Income tax (recoverable)/payable (ATUe @),/ e AT 1SR (158,912) 23,992

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

iR RS R T aE

BE_Z-—R"FZA=+—HLFE CUETIIE)

Income tax (recoverable)/payable 21 (TYE) FENFESHR (&)
(continued)
Deferred tax assets (b) ELEHBEEE
At 31 March 2016, the group has not recognised deferred RZZE—R"F=ZA=+—0 AR BERNERN S
tax assets in respect of unused tax losses of approximately MERNEERBAI DL TEE - REBRSAH
HK$35,054,000 (2015: HK$37,181,000) and deductible temporary THE B R T R R AR LT TH & E#) /35,054,000
differences of approximately HK$557,000 (2015: HK$507,000) B (ZZF—AF : 37,181,000/ 70) + fARERM
due to the uncertainty of the related tax benefits being AN B Z B 4 A557,0008 0 (ZE— R F ¢
realised through future taxable profits. The unused tax losses 507,000 7T) ° R &) A B IEE 18 491,775,000 T
of approximately HK$1,775,000 (2015: HK$2,640,000) can be (ZZ—HF : 2,640,000/ 70) o] BAE HEEE
carried forward for offset against the taxable profits of subsequent ERFERARRIFNERRTOGEHN - mEMEIEE
years for five years following the loss year. Other unused tax losses AR A o
may be carried forward indefinitely.
Deferred tax liabilities (o) ELEHEEE
At 31 March 2016, there were no significant unrecognised RZE—RF=ZA=+—8  WRAEEMERKRE
deferred tax liabilities (2015: HK$Nil). REERBEE (ZT—RF : THT) °
Cash and bank balances and time deposits 22 BE&RBITEBUREHRER
2016 —Z—F 2015 Z=—Hh4F
HK$E T HK$/E 7T
Cash and bank balances & RIRTTAEER 6,121,320 6,195,313
Time deposits E TR 2,000,170 1,961,832
8,121,490 8,157,145
Less: Pledged bank deposits B BIRIRIRITIER (2,000,170) -
Less: Non-pledged time deposits W RTERE BT E
with maturity over three months FHHBR=(EA 5
from date of deposits FEHARE BT K = (656,073)
Cash and cash equivalents BHe KRS EEY 6,121,320 7,501,072
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank B TE B 77 SR AR IR [ 8 F = W ER A B 40 - $R1TTF 5K F

deposit rates except for time deposits which earns interest at fixed
rate. For the year ended 31 March 2016, time deposits are made
for terms of one to two months (2015: one to six months).

Bank deposits of HK$2,000,170 (2015: HK$Nil) has been pledged
to secure a banking facility granted to the group (note 31) during
the year.

BRANMEIREGBRTEHERMEMES -
RIE—RF=ZA=1+—H0 THEIEFH =W
@A (ZZF—8F: —=2XER)  BFEEEHR
THERNDESZREEME -

#802,000,1708 T (ZE—RAF : THT) ©HF
REERTRIT  EAERAARIZENBATN
ETFRITEE (FIFE31) °
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ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-Z—XE=A=+—BI-FE (AETIIE)

23 Trade and other payables 23 ENESZRHEMESIKRK
2016 —Z—KF 2015 Z=—Hh%F
HKS$#E T HK$E7T
Trade payables BB SRR 314,046 325,664
Accrued charges and other payables JERTE A R E A FE IR R 2,221,244 3,548,742
Gross amount due to customers for EREFRRBEE L
service contract work (note 25) TS (H25) 631,364 1,044,093
Deferred maintenance income RIERE WA 1,685,833 1,889,749
4,852,487 6,808,248
All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled REEWENE S KEMENRRBERR—FA
or recognised as income within one year or are repayable on XA EERE RN ER BN ©
demand.
The ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the RMEER - RER AN ERNE ZRKOIRER
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: DT
2016 = —KF 2015 —Z=—Hh%F
HK$%E T HK$&7T
Less than 1 month DIA—1E B 278,724 280,302
More than 1 month but less than 3 months #238—1& A8 L =& A 32,092 43,392
More than 3 months but less than 1 year — #@={AFEBLHR—F 3,230 1,970
314,046 325,664
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—Z—XF=A=+—HIFE CLETIIE)
Provisions 24 B1E
Employee Defect liability
benefits period
(note (a)) (note (b)) Total
EEEF REH
(F&E(a)) (P EE(b)) &5t
HK$/E7T HK$E7T HK$E 7T
At 1 April 2014 R-ZE—UFmMA—H 33,513 305,365 338,878
Additional provisions recognised I AEEHER (FitET6(b))
(note 6(b)) 69,039 309,372 378,411
Reversal of unused provisions REVFREEE (FFE6b))
(note 6(b)) (52,567) (424,372) (476,939)
At 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015 RA-ZE—HF=A=+—HK
—HFMA—H 49,985 190,365 240,350
Additional provisions recognised EIMEEEHR (FizEeb))
(note 6(b)) 57,407 672,085 729,492
Reversal of unused provisions RE)AEELE (FiEE6eb))
(note 6(b)) (59,666) (428,083) (487,749)
At 31 March 2016 R-ZEBE—R"F=A=+—H 47,726 434,367 482,093
Notes: B3 -
(a) The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave accrued (a EEBABEIEREE FHRRRENGIREME -

and compensation claims made by employees.

(b) The provision for the defect liability period relates to the estimated
cost of work agreed to be carried out for the rectification of smartcard
systems to certain customers. The amount has not been discounted
for the purpose of measuring the provision for defect liability period
because the effect would not be material.

Service contracts in progress

(b) REPBEIDREEE TREEERRSOME
TREAA - ARRENBEHENRRTZET
A HORBAHBERRE -

25 ETHHRBEY

2016 —Z—~F 2015 ZE—hF
HKS$#E T HK$ 7T

Contract costs incurred plus recognised E5BEEERAMEGREF
profits less recognised losses to date AR TERBEE 4,039,469 8,529,982
Less: Progress billings o EEN KRR (2,634,410) (7,518,910)
1,405,059 1,011,072

Gross amount due from customers for R FHRS & # TIZRIR
service contract work (note 18) #2%E (FizE18) 2,036,423 2,055,165

Gross amount due to customers for EREPHRIEA A TIRIE
service contract work (note 23) mzE (f1zE23) (631,364) (1,044,093)
1,405,059 1,011,072
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iR e R

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &%

26

27

Employee retirement benefits

The group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
"MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not
previously covered by the defined benefit retirement plan. The
MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan
vest immediately.

The subsidiary operating in the PRC is required to participate in
a defined contribution retirement scheme, organised by relevant
government authorities for the staff in the PRC. The subsidiary
is required to make contributions to the retirement scheme at
specified rates of the basic salary of its employees in the PRC.

The group’s retirement scheme contributions charged to profit or
loss for the year were HK$509,176 (2015: HK$521,326).

Share option scheme

The company operates the 2011 Scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the 2011 Scheme include the company’s directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees of
the group, suppliers of goods or services to the group, customers
of the group, advisers and consultants, etc. The 2011 Scheme
became effective on 8 August 2011 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that
date.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2011 Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the company shall not exceed 30% of the total number of
shares of the company in issue. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the
2011 Scheme and any other share option scheme of the company
within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the
company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

ITE (Holdings) Limited

26

27

“E-RFZ A=+ BULEFE (RETIIE)

B TRKER

REBIZREERF M AESTEEO ARERERE
BIEOI AR FRETR A R ERARKAENE
BREBIRHATIMRATESE ([BBEETE]) - %
BEEFTE AR TEHIRIKGTE - WAHBETE
SEE - RIEGESTE  BREREESVAER
BEBNFSN-%ARESTENRK MEAE
R € ER 530,000/ 7T - ATA S RN T
FTEl -

ARBRPEENE QB RENRFREZRE S
BHREE 2 TRERKRHNGE - B A RKRES
BEMRATERENLEAMEEEATEELR
FEHI R

AEBRAFEFABSZHNRAKEHNEHERS
509,176/87C (ZF—HR%F : 521,326/87T) °

BREsTE

ARAET_FT——F58  SERHAKEEE
R EMERMY ABERERHERHREE - —T—
—FHEEAEREREARES  HMEeEBHE
HITEE  AEEEMES ERKRBHEER -
BEF BAE - —Z——FFER_ZF——FN\A
NBERER - BREBUEKE BN - HIFERE AL
FHFERBR

FRATEEPRE M ARTTRE A B H AR sk IS TR 6y
AAR—F——Fit@ R EMBERES S NER
- HBETHRMNEE TREBRRRNEITER
#30% ° WMER+—EABMA - KRR -_F——%F
AR R A E A ERES B B ABRE A E T
BIRNEE  ERES LBRARRAEREETRNON
1% o (AR H It ER AR - ARBEEX
BRI
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Share option scheme (continued)

Share options granted to directors, chief executives or substantial
shareholders of the company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the company’s shares at the date of
the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general

meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
21 days from the date of the offer upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercisable
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and ends
on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date of the
offer of the share options or the expiry date of the 2011 Scheme,
if earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the closing
price of the company’s shares on the date of the offer of the share
options, (i) the average closing price of the company’s shares for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer;
and (i) the nominal value of the share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or
to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

On 9 July 2015, the company granted share options to certain
eligible participants to subscribe for an aggregate of 10,950,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
company, represented approximately 1.18% of all the shares in
issue as at the date of the grant.

27

iR RS R T aE

BE_Z-—R"FZA=+—HLFE CUETIIE)

BRETE (&)

MEE - THAE - ARIARREEMMNFEER T
BRE - ABEAKBEILIFNTESIAE - 1IN &
AATABRER - AR IFNTESREEMKAF
PRI - REA T —EAAZR AR K
HE0.1% X EAE (RREE A AR RO ERE
) SRAB&EET  ARBRRASEBRME -

ERTHEREEINRERDBEREN -+ X
W ABHE—ETHNRBAERZIBERE - Kih
BRENTEHHESETE - REHH - REHR
Fis IREHELERERRTFR BT
R E——HFEEHMATSE -

BRENTEEBRIHESETE - EEFTFER
THERSE : (VARROEBKRERLE B8k
B (A FRMERNEH A AERS AT
B THME ; (iR EE -

B EX T RHEARBRBERRBRRASHRE
HRER -

R-ZZE—RFELANB ' ARARABTAERATLT
& A& ££10,950,0008% & A% M {80.0178 7o /9 B8 1%
B MxEEREGRHEBN1.18%ME BT

,T/'\ =
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ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-Z—XE=A=+—BI-FE (AETIIE)

27 Share option scheme (continued) 27 BRESE (&)

(@) The following table details the company’s share (a) FRBRE-Z——FHEFHNBERE
options in issue under the 2011 Scheme during the FIEIRAT
year

Number of exercisable and outstanding share options

ATEREATTENERE

Exercise price At 1 April Granted during At 31 March

Participant Date of grant Exercisable period per share 2015 the year 2016

RZZ-RF RIB-RE

AAMRE =l hyid BIRTTRER mA—H FRR =B=t-H

HK$E T
Independent non-executive directors 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to
BUEHTES “E-RELANA 7 August 2021
ZE-R"E-ANAE
—Z--%)\AtH 0.154 - 2,700,000 2,700,000
Directors of subsidiaries of 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to
the company “T-nELANA 7 August 2021
ARAEMBRAANES ZE-RE-ANAZE
—Z--%)\AtA 0.154 - 3,750,000 3,750,000
Other employees 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to
HfnfEs “Z-nELANA 7 August 2021
“E2-R"E-ANAE
“E-%)\AtH 0.154 - 4,500,000 4,500,000
Total &5 - 10,950,000 10,950,000

Weighted average exercise price (HK$)

MEEATERER (B = 0.154 0.154
No share options was exercised during the year ended 31 March HE_T—R"F=-A=+—HILFE WEBIE
2016. EAa] B AR AE o

(b)  Fair value of share options and assumption (b) EBRENATFERREE
The fair value of services received in return for share options REBEUREEREMESHRENAFEZER
granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share options BRENATETE BERBERENEGTATER
granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share options ARG E c BRENSOBAEERXZ 1R
granted is measured based on a binominal model. The contractual BAZH - HHRFTEN 28 bR A ZEAER
life of the share options is used as an input into this model. B oo

Expectations of early exercise are incorporated into the binomial
model.
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iR RS R T aE

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—Z—XF=A=+—HIFE CLETIIE)

27 Share option scheme (continued) 27 ER#ETE (E)

(b) Fair value of share options and assumption (b) HBREMNLIFERER (&)
(continued)

The inputs into the model were as follows: R ALEWT -

Date of grant i A B 9 July 2015
—E-RFtANA

Total number of share options g Rt 10,950,000

Share price of the company at the date of grant FHERAARATRE HK$0.152/% 7T

Exercise price per share BRITEER HK$0.1547% 7T

Expected volatility TEERR IR 91%

Option life HE AR R HR 6.08 yearst

Expected dividend yield TEERR B EE Nil4E

Risk-free interest rate eIy M| e 1.26%

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility of the TEEDR I8 TR B AR N AR (BRI 2R IR - W RFRR

company’s share price and it is assumed there is no material ERETFHHSEEAZE -

change over the whole life of share options.

The total fair value of the share options granted during the year ABAR0.094B T AT EFE - FRAREERE

was approximately HK$1,029,300 with fair value of HK$0.094 for F AT EBEELAE1,029,3008 7T - AEEBERF

each option. The group has recognised equity-settled share-based MR 1,029,300 T H) AR 1 45 H DA R 19 R AT A

payments of HK$ 1,029,300 arising from options vested during the e

year.

Save as disclosed above, no share options was granted, exercised, BRUA L ERSN - FRIEERERERETEZ HE

cancelled, or lapsed in accordance with the terms of the share iz~ BUBS R »

option scheme of the company during the year.
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ARe ISR

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-Z—XE=A=+—BI-FE (AETIIE)

28 Capital and reserves 28 EXKf#E
(@) Share capital (a) B
(i) Authorized and issued share capital (i) RTE R B BITRA
2016 —B—KF 2015 —2—h%F
Number of shares HK$  Number of shares HK$
g2 BT R e BT
Authorised: EERA
Ordinary shares of BREE0.01EITH
HK$0.01 each TRk 2,000,000,000 20,000,000 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
Ordinary share, issued BRI RARIRA
and fully paid: SERY
At 1 April RUA—H 929,544,000 9,295,440 929,544,000 9,295,440
Repurchase of shares Efth)
(note 28(a)ii) (Ht=E28(a)ii) (2,188,000) (21,880) - -
At 31 March R=R=+—H 927,356,000 9,273,560 929,544,000 9,295,440
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as TRRF/BAEABETIREEMERNRKRE - WHRE
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share RASESZE LRER—FERERA - FIAEBER
at meetings of the company. All ordinary shares rank equally with EASEFSREEHHARSHA

regard to the company’s residual assets.
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—Z—XF=A=+—HIFE CLETIIE)

28 Capital and reserves (continued) 28 EBEAXK#E (&)
(@)  Share capital (continued) (a) M (&)
(if) Repurchase of shares (if) Bl AR 15
During the year ended 31 March 2015, the company did not HE_Z-—RF=R=1T—RHILFE XRAFHE
repurchase its own ordinary shares on the Stock Exchange. During Fx%ﬁﬁ@ﬁ% SRR c BEZZT—RE=A=
the year ended 31 March 2016, the company repurchased its own T—HIEFE  ARARRRXHFEE T3 E®ER
ordinary shares on the Stock Exchange as follows: Petn o
Number of Price paid per share
shares Aggregate BRI HER
Month/year ® /R repurchased amount paid Highest Lowest
Gy 48 FENFCE ) &I
HK$ETT HK$ETT HK$ETT
July 2015 “T-RFEA 200,000 25,969 0.130 0.124
July 2015 “Z-hFtA 508,000 59,655 0.125 0.110
December 2015 —ZT—hF+_A 1,080,000 162,542 0.149 0.148
February 2016 A S| 400,000 56,896 0.140 0.139
2,188,000 305,062
The issued share capital of the company was reduced by the RARBEETRABHEZSRGOEE 821,880
nominal value of these shares of HK$21,880. The premium paid BIT o XA ERERR 10 5 B #9283,182 B T E RN E A
on the repurchase of the shares of HK$283,182 in current year AR & B A HIBR -

was charged to share premium account.

(b)  Nature and purpose of reserves (b) fREENMEEREN

0) Share premium (i) f& 1 (B
The application of the share premium account is governed by the BHENBASIHERS R ANERANATIALR
company’s Articles of Association and the Companies Law of the %%%%EE'J%EE HRERIFERRAEREZRDIK
Cayman lIslands, which provides that the share premium account PR EER JEEAFESBREFIHNE
may be applied in making distributions or paying dividends to o - R RE R AR MARR 2R KR RS © ik
members, provided that immediately following the date on which 2@ (B 71 Al AR AL AR IR 35 ©

distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The share premium may also be distributed in the form
of fully paid bonus shares.
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

28

(b)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(o)

B RR MR

Capital and reserves (continued)
Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
Merger reserve

The group’s merger reserve represents the excess of the aggregate
of the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation completed on 18
November 2000 on the nominal value of the share capital of the

company issued in exchange therefor.
Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(p).

Share option reserve

This reserve represents the fair value of the actual or estimated
number of unexercised share options granted to eligible persons,
including any director, employee, consultant or advisor of the
company and its subsidiaries or any associate of the company,
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy in note 2(r)

(iif).
Distributability of reserves
At 31 March 2016 and 2015, none of the reserves of the company

is available for distribution to owners of the company, except for
the reserve as stated in note 28 (b)(i).

ITE (Holdings) Limited

28

(b)

(if)

(iii)

(c)

BE_Z-—RF=ZA=+—BLFE CAETIIE)

BEXKf#tE ()

RENEEREBER (&)

& Bt

ARBNAGHHBERE  RE-TTEE AT

NERIEM - AR R A SR AN bR T E R H
BB ARSERNREE -

SNES I 5 iR

SIS BE 3 1 4 R B DL IR S B T RO A T SRR O
SNESEE R o RERBEEN M E2(0) & 5T R
e

S

B

b R TS B AR R FE2(n) (i) & 5T IR R PR R A IR T
ARBAEMBARAERS2TE (BHEEMNES -
EE  BERUREBRBEAL) OEERMGEFRITE
BRERE AT EERK -

Ao Ef#E

RoB—AF=A=t+-BR-F-AF=A=+
—B - BHE280)S - AARLREATHRT
ARRREAGER -



28

(d)

29

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Capital and reserves (continued)
Capital management

The group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safequard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for owners and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to

finance at a reasonable cost.

The group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher owner returns
and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of

changes in economic conditions.

The group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a net debt-
to-adjusted capital ratio. For this purpose the group defines net
debt as total debt (which includes trade and other payables) plus
unaccrued proposed dividends, less cash and cash equivalents and
pledged deposits. Adjusted capital comprises all components of

equity less unaccrued proposed dividends.

During the year, the group’s strategy, which was unchanged from
2015, was to maintain the net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio below
50%.
adjust the amount of dividends to be paid to owners, issue new

In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the group may

shares, return capital to owners, raise new debt financing or sell

assets to reduce debt.
Financial risk management and fair values

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises
in the normal course of the group’s business. The group is also
exposed to equity price risk arising from its financial assets at fair

value through profit or loss.

These risks are limited by the group’s financial management

policies and practices described below.

28

(d)

29

iR RS R T aE

NEZA=+—HLFE CUETIIE)

BE_T—

xR (B)
BAREHE

AEBEWEAERRERIRAARE AR E B 84
BIERL S AR E R R H @R R A E A
HEA LR - KERERRERRKFAD
HERBEAGERAL2ERES -

AEBETBHRERBRANEEAEBALFFESE
BielhR  RERZE2RFEAEENRN - REL
BN TEL S E AR GRS -

AEEGAFEBEERHEEA LR AERERE
BARE -t AEERBLAE (BRENES
KEAMEMIRE) MR EZHRERSBERS
EBREEBYRERMRITER - KHBEARIE
PrAREsR T B AT IRARIR A S, ©

il*J $’¥@E’Jﬁlﬂ“ﬁﬂﬂf? TF - BEFEF
o RTHITR
M%&ﬁ‘é;ﬁﬁ?ﬁx%ﬁ@ﬁi@ 3

MO EARE R

B AEETE
BEATHR - REIRA TR - £&
HEBENRDEHE -

cREABEERATE
AREER—REBERDIELRE  E2 7D

- MERRINERR - REBTRERBRRIZA
FEERENCREETELEAERER -

ELREREXAEENTBERBRRERARN
.
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29

(a)

B RR MR

Financial risk management and fair values
(continued)

Credit risk

The group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables. Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are generally due within 30 to 60 days
(2015: 30 to 45 days) from the date of billing. Normally, the group
does not obtain collateral from customers.

The group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer. The default risk of
the industry and country in which customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the end of the
reporting period, the group has a certain concentration of credit
risk as 14% (2015: 22%) and 61% (2015: 71%) of the total trade
receivables were due from the group’s largest customer and the
five largest customers respectively.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of
any collateral held is represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from trade and other receivables are set out in
note 18.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=—Z—XF=A=+—HIFE CLETIIE)

29 Financial risk management and fair values 29 S REMRSTERAFE ()

(continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (b) ERBERAMR
The group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and cash REBOBRDREZHNES KB SEEY © =k
equivalents or have available funding through an adequate HERRITRENAEAREHEE - UEEIXNT
amount of committed annual credit facilities from banks to meet FELETENAFILE - ARAEERR A&
its commitments over the next year in accordance with its strategic EEHEERAES RENENEESTE WA
plan. In the opinion of the directors of the company, the group EERBESAMNR

expects to have adequate sources of funding to finance the group
and manage the liquidity position.

The maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities as at the end RBERR  AEEHRBEaNEREENRTRER
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted SRR

cash flows, was as follows:

2016 ZB-~F 2015 ZF—1F
Total Total
contractual Within contractual Within
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or Carrying undiscounted 1 year or
amount  cash outflows on demand amount cash outflows on demand
BHRIE R—ERZ BRRITH R—ER
IREE R EZRER IREE Rem EERER
HKSE T HK$7E T HKS7E T HK$ETT HK$A T HK$ETT
Trade and other payables  ERTE 5 Rk E A ER IR
— Trade payables - BB SRR 314,046 314,046 314,046 325,664 325,664 325,664
- Accrued chargesand  — ERTERR
other payables HipEMIER 2,221,204 2,221,244 2,221,204 3,548,742 3,548,742 3,548,742
2,535,290 2,535,290 2,535,290 3,874,406 3,874,406 3,874,406
() Interest rate risk (0 F=mEp
The group’s significant interest-bearing assets are bank deposits. AEBWEEMBEEHR/RITER  FEEHOF
The group’s interest income is dependent on changes in market BWAAKETSHEES) - BEARE BB
interest rates and will not have significant adverse impact on the A AT R E -

group’s financial position.

A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points in interest FEI100EEBNSIBAIEE KT EHARER K
rates would have no significant impact on the group’s financial RARRNFENNBERRNEREEEATE -

performance and equity for the year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE—

29

(d)

B ERRMTE

Financial risk management and fair values
(continued)

Currency risk

The group’s business transactions, assets and liabilities are
principally denominated in HK$, RMB, MOP and US$. The group
has minimal exposure to currency risk as the foreign exchange rate
of HK$ is close to MOP and HK$ is also pegged with US$. The
group currently does not have a currency hedging policy in respect
of currency debt. The group will monitor its currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant currency exposure

should the need arise.

The following table details the group’s exposure at the end of the
reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised assets
or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate.

T-REZA=T-HLFE NETIIE)

29 2RIEAKREERATE (&)

(d) ErmEpk

MR AEBABNEBRS  BERABEHTEN
?pfﬁ CARE CRMERETIIE - MEAZ

BAK o BB TT LR E BRI EOI MOB T
Eﬁi%nﬁ’ﬁﬁi RIER - MAKEMARNEERRE
B o 7N 52 [ 3R B 3 S 1 1A 3 S A 4] 9 0 SN BE K
R AEBERBEEEREINERR - UNEFER
VAN 32 B KO b SN Rl B

FEERRERRBUINEHREERNERERZ
JIMEREENABMEENEBEARFANT

Assets/(Liabilities)

BE (8f)
2016 —FE— K& 2015 —ZE—FF
HKS$#E T HK$Z 7T
RMB AR 445,871 2,047,970
MOP TR 347,182 34,602
us$ ET 40,400 48,908

A reasonably possible change of 1% in exchange rates between
RMB to HK$, MOP to HK$ and US$ to HK$ would have no
significant impact on the group’s financial performance and equity
for the year.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Financial risk management and fair values
(continued)

Equity price risk

The group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value at end of each reporting period. Therefore,
the group is exposed to equity price risk. The directors of the
company manage this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of

investments with different risk profiles.

At 31 March 2016, if the market price of the listed equity
securities had increased/decreased by 10% with all other variables
held constant, the group’s profit after tax would have been
HK$147,347 (2015: HK$132,428) higher/lower (2015: higher/

lower).

Categories of financial instruments

29

(e)

(f)

iR RS R T aE

BE_Z-—R"FZA=+—HLFE CUETIIE)

cREREER A VE (8)

RERR

AEENEBBRHRIENTERENEREESIR
HEHRARFEE - BREE E AR (E R
% - MY RERR - ARREEFERIRE R
ETRARNKREAS -

RZZE—AF=ZA=-+—8 " WEMBERLA
TE10% - MEMAIBERZRIETE - AEE W
Big g mrggm R (Z2—1F : #&Mn
W) 147,34787T (ZE—RF ¢ 132,42887T) °

TRMTAENER

2016 —Z—RHF 2015 —Z—HF

HK$E 7T HK$# 7T

Financial assets SREE
Loan and receivables (including cash and ERkEKES (BFERS &

bank balances and time deposits) RITAE R K TE BT SR) 12,357,269 15,252,816
Fair value through profit or loss FHBERREATE

(held for trading) (FEE=H) 1,764,630 1,585,970
Financial liabilities cRIEE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost b N O =R 2,535,290 3,874,406

Fair values

All financial instruments are carried at cost not materially different
from their fair values as at 31 March 2016 and 2015.

The carrying value of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are measured at fair value which is included in a category
of level 1, using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical financial instruments, as defined in HKFRS 13.

(9)

AFE

PIABERMIAMNARKAEER-T-—RFR-F
—AF=RA=+—HHOAFEESEATH -

FERBHREATENSREERIERSE &G

£ REFEMHHREENF135% - MEAERE
MTANERTS CREAE) HWE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2015-2016 F3&

99




100

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &%

30

31

32

(@)

(b)

“E-RFZ A=+ BULEFE (RETIIE)

Commitments 30 &R
At 31 March 2016, the total future minimum lease payments RZE—R"F=ZA=+—8 ~EEREEEWE
under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows: R HEI L EEE AR B RN REHEER
AT
2016 =T —RF 2015 —Z=—Hh%F
HK$# T HK$E 7T
Within 1 year —FR 398,370 1,188,347
After 1 year but within 5 years —FBAFN 49,500 189,030
447,870 1,377,377
The group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties held AEBESETHREHENYERRETRERS - H
under operating leases. The leases typical run for a period of 1 DE—RBE—FE2-F (ZT—0F: —FEOEF)
year to 2 years (2015: 1 year to 4 years) with an option to renew WAB R R T ENR - ZEROWEHE
the lease when all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases EfRIAEE ©
includes contingent rentals.
The group did not have any other significant capital and financial AEBR_ZE-—RE=ZA=+T—HUTEEFAERY
commitments as at 31 March 2016 and 2015. BRNBBEE (ZE—HE: &)
Banking facility 31 RITWME
During the year ended 31 March 2016, time deposit of RZZE—A"F=A=+—H " 2,000,170%x (=&
HK$2,000,170 (note 22) have been pledged as securities for —RF T THREFERTET  EAER
banking facilities granted to the group on the performance AEEETHENEERSE ERHEATK -
guarantee in respect of one of the projects of the group.
Material related party transactions 32 ERBEALXRS
Key management personnel remuneration (a) EAREEAEHME
Remuneration for key management personnel of the group, RAATEREBAEMEBEINARAAEEZEE
represents amounts paid to the company’s directors as disclosed in I FESHE FR ©
note 8.
Other related party transactions (b)y HMEEALRS

The group entered into the following material related party
transactions during the year:

FA - AEERFTIALNERFBALRS :

2015 —Z—FF
HK$E 7T

2016 —ZF—RF
HK$7E T

Facility supporting income received
from an associate

BN REEEA

319,800 =

Balance with a related party is disclosed in the consolidated
statement of financial position and in note 19.

ITE (Holdings) Limited

BER HHERINER S MR R 193K ER -



33 Subsidiaries’ information

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

33

At 31 March 2016 and 2015, particulars of the group’s principal

subsidiaries are as follows:

iR RS R T aE

BE_Z-—R"FZA=+—HLFE CUETIIE)

f B 2 R E

AN BAREE T 2B QRS

Place of Particulars of
incorporation/ Percentage of issued and
Name of company establishment ownership interest paid up capital Principal activities
BRTRARRA
AL R FEEENEA M TEER
Indirect
Cf:3
2016 2015
8- " —F-0f
ITE Smartcard Solutions Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 3,418,336 Provision of smartcard systems and
BREZGERAA B shares of related services and sales of
HK$1 each service related products
3418336 REERRRMRIBERE R
(BREE1T) HERGERER
RF Tech Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 2 shares of Manufacture and research of
0 HK$1 each smartcard system and
2[% service related products
(BREET)  EERIREERZNERER
[TE (China) Limited (note) the PRC 100% 100% United States Provision of smartcard systems and
LR KEERS H dollars (“US$") related services
BRAR (P 700,000  REBEREGNERRS
700,000% 7T
Quesco Systems Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 6,500,000 Provision of IT consultancy services
R AGERBRAR 0 sharesof AP RERRS
HK$1 each
6,500,000/
(BlkmEE1T)
[TE Sistema (Macau) Limitada Macao 100% 100% Macao Patacas Provision of smartcard systems and
BEZS (RF) ARAR B (“MOP") 25,000 related services and sales of

Note:

ITE (China) Limited is a wholly foreign owned enterprise with an

operating period of 20 years expiring on 26 June 2021.

25,0008 service related products
REBRER RS RARRE &
HERBEBER
e : LEEMNEREZRFERAAAE—RE2IHNEDR

¥ KESMA-+F R-ZTZ—F~A=Z+X
=DE=pe

ANNUAL REPORT 2015-2016 F3&

101




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-Z—XE=A=+—BI-FE (AETIIE)

33 Subsidiaries’ information (continued) 33 KMEARESR (&)
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the group which, in ERITFEERATEVEASEANFENHRE
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the financial IRAEEFEEFZEAXRBOHNMBELRR - £F
performance for the year or formed a substantial portion of the RS E MM E A RNFEESBRRBBRIT
net assets of the group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, o

in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.
34 Financial information of the company 3 FARIMHMBER
(@) Statement of financial position (a) BBEMRRE

2016 —Z—XRF 2015 = F—HF
HKS$#E T HK$E7T

Non-current assets IRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary RIBAREE 4,000,000 4,000,000

Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE LA FfT /B 1 B IR 3K 817,763 3,413,375
Deposits and prepayments e RBENER 196,576 194,427
Tax recoverable AT [E1 5 5K 183,639 =
Cash and cash equivalents BHehESEEY 1,338,677 608,145
2,536,655 4,215,947
Current liabilities i =R

Accrued charges and other payables FEET B A M oA FE TR 5K 364,267 364,099
Net current assets RBEERE 2,172,388 3,851,848
Net assets BEFE 6,172,388 7,851,848

Capital and reserves BARRHE
Share capital LN 9,273,560 9,295,440
Reserves (note 34(b)) 15 (MF5E34(0b)) (3,101,172) (1,443,592)
Total equity HRER 6,172,388 7,851,848
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Financial information of the company
(continued)

iR RS R T aE

BE_Z-—R"FZA=+—HLFE CUETIIE)

3 EARFNMBER (F)

Details of changes in the company’s individual (b) FRAARRBENENASHEZNT :
components of reserves during the year:
Share Share  Accumulated
premium option reserve losses Total
R EE BRERE Rt iR ait
HK$ T HK$/ETT HK$# T HK$ETT
At 1 April 2014 R-T-MEmA—H 24,951,515 - (27,058372)  (2,106,857)
Profit and total comprehensive FREFREEBAEE
income for the year - - 2,522,353 2,522,353
Dividend paid in respect of FEREIM (FE11)
previous year (note 11) (1,859,088) - - (1,859,088)
At 31 March 2015 and RZE-HF=A=+—HK
1 April 2015 —E-RFNA—H 23,092,427 = (24,536,019) (1,443,592)
Loss and total comprehensive FREBEEREES HEE
expense for the year - - (81,578) (81,578)
Equity-settled share-based WSS AR &
payments (note 27(b)) B (H3E27(0) - 1,029,300 = 1,029,300
Repurchase of shares BB (BTEE28(a) i)
(note 28(a)ii)) (283,182) - - (283,182)
Dividend paid in respect of EFRESAT (FfaE11)
previous year (note 11) (2,322,120) - - (2,322,120)
At 31 March 2016 RZZE—R"E=A=+—H 20,487,125 1,029,300 (24,617,597) (3,101,172)
Accounting estimates and judgements 35 SEtHETRM&EE
The management had made the following estimates and EEMANEEN ST BR GFARNE2) - BRE
assumptions in the process of applying the group’s accounting SYER TIEF RAE - RARGEEHEERBE
policies, which are described in note 2, that have a significant risk IREEEL KIEEHE -
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities as discussed below.
Revenue and profit recognition (@) Wz Kom FIHERR

The group estimates the percentage of completion of the service
contracts by reference to the proportion that contract costs
incurred for work performed to date to the estimated total costs
for the contracts. When the final cost incurred by the group
is different from the amounts that were initially budgeted,
such differences will impact the revenue and the profit or loss
recognised in the period in which such determination is made.
Budgeted costs of each project will be reviewed periodically and
revised accordingly where significant variances are noted during
the revision.

AEEZ2EEEFANREETRMELNG KRR
ERES R BEA L PIEETRES TR B
Dt e MEAREMELENKRERAERBEED
RERE - FRAZESHEELREHRNERR
WARIEE - FIHEWRERAKEHEH XM
BT HREREREE - RIS ELELT -
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35

(b)

(0

(d)

(e)

Accounting estimates and judgements
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for the group’s property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment of a
similar nature and function.

Impairment on receivables

The policy for impairment on receivables of the group is based
on the evaluation of collectability and ageing analysis of accounts
and on management’s judgement. A considerable amount of
judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each customer. If the financial conditions
of customers of the group were to deteriorate, resulting in
an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional
impairment adjustments may be required.

Write-down of inventories

Write-down of inventories is made based on the ageing and
estimated net realisable value of inventories. The assessment of the
write-down amount involves judgement and estimates. Where the
actual outcome in future is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of inventories and
the write-down amount charge/reverse in the period in which such
estimate has been changed.

Deferred tax

Estimating the amount for deferred tax assets arising from tax
losses requires a process that involves forecasting future years’
taxable income and assessing the group’s ability to utilise tax
benefits through future earnings. Where the actual future profits
generated are more or less than expected, a recognition or reversal
of the deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised
in profit or loss for the period in which such a recognition or
reversal takes place. While the current operations indicate that the
unused tax losses cannot be utilised in the future, any changes
in assumptions, estimates and tax regulations can affect the
recoverability of this unrecognised deferred tax asset.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Possible impact of new and revised
standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2016

Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, new standards
and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 March 2016 and which have not been adopted in the

consolidated financial statements.

These include the following which may be relevant to the group:

36

iR RS R T aE

NEZA=+—HLFE CUETIIE)

BE_T—

BE-_F-~"E=ZA=1+—-HL
FEEEMERERNBET ~ #
HEARZENEERE

Eﬁilﬁti,ﬁ?é\ﬁﬂ’zi&?%'ﬂﬁ*za - BEREEAE
BB ZIRIER] - LR CEREBE-T—
AR5 = EI¢¢F1B5R$A( BIARRERS
BATERERER AN

VAN BT BE B AN SR [ B R O 6T

Effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after

ETHBSRzE

BRAE TR AN

Amendments to HKAS 1, Disclosure initiative AR GHENZ1RMER] — BEHE 1 January 2016
—T-RF-A-H

Amendments to HKAS 27, Equity method in separate ARG ERE 27RO 1 January 2016
financial statements — BB RER % —E—"¥—A—H
Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38, Clarification of ER G ER 165 K38 MBS 1 January 2016
acceptable methods of depreciation and amortisation — BEAERHITERET, /f —T-F-A—H
Annual improvements to HKFRS 2012 - 2014 cycle BB REEN -—F——FF 1 January 2016
ZE—E A FE —E-NFE—-A—H

Amendments to HKAS 7, Disclosure initiative AR GHERBTRMER] — KFEAE 1 January 2017
—t%—A—H

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers BREGHERE 5% — KEEFE MMz 1 January 2018
“Z-\¥$—-A—H

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments (2014) BEGHENESR - 2@ T A (ZF—HF) 1 January 2018
—Z-\§—R—H

HKFRS 16, Leases BERGHLERE 6% —HE 1 January 2019
—hE—A—A

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28,

S ERIE 105 R 28% M ’}E

Effective date will be

Sale or contribution of assets between an investor = ;ﬂ R AN ST SN A determined upon
and its associate or joint venture BB E N e outstanding phase
is finalised
BB RIA TR ER SEA A T REE
The group is in the process of making an assessment of what the §$EE§¢$‘§IE§”HETEHH%#{ B HTEAIR

impact of these amendments, new standards and interpretations
is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it
has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a
significant impact on the group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Five Year Summary
T FH2

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JABTTHIE)

2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12
ZE-HE-~E T NE—1F —T-ZFNF —T--E-=fF —T——F_F
HKSHE T HK$E T HK$ BT HK$BTT HK$ BT
Results 4y
Turnover HESD 24,169,306 29,395,206 22,902,210 28,364,577 25,903,461
Profit/(loss) from operations LEER /(B18) 329,315 3,243,839 2,070,026 1,093,371 (1,749,844)
Finance costs BAR K - = = (31,711) (83,019)
Profit/(loss) before taxation BEAER/(B1]) 329,315 3,243,839 2,070,026 1,061,660 (1,832,863)
Income tax e = - - = (8,250)
Profit/(loss) for the year ARREEAER
attributable to owners FEIEER
of the company wfl/ (E8) 329,315 3,243,839 2,070,026 (1,841,113)
Assets and liabilities EERERE
Non-current assets EREEE 125,113 202,314 291,201 42,708
Net current assets MEBBEFE 12,217,670 13,315,012 11,838,380 9,017,945
Net assets BEFE 12,342,783 13,517,326 12,129,581 9,060,653
Earnings/(loss) per share SREF/(BE)
Basic (HK cents) B (ML) 0.04 0.35 0.22 (0.20)
Diluted (HK cents) B () 0.04 0.35 0.22 (0.20)

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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